# THE RUSSO-UKRAINIAN WAR AND ITS TRANSFORMATIVE IMPACT ON EUROPEAN SECURITY DYNAMICS: SHIFTING POWER, EMERGING CHALLENGES, AND FUTURE IMPLICATIONS

A Thesis

presented to

the Faculty of Law and Political Science

at Notre Dame University-Louaize

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts in International Affairs and Diplomacy

by

RIMA MUKARZEL

JULY 2023

# **©COPYRIGHT**

By

Rima Mukarzel

2023

All Rights Reserved

Notre Dame University - Louaize

Faculty of Law and Political Science

Department of Law and Political Science

We hereby approve the thesis of

Rima Mukarzel

Candidate for the degree of Master of Arts in International Affairs & Diplomacy

Dr. Maria Njaim

Supervisor

Committee Member

Dr. Nehme Al-Khawly

# Acknowledgments

I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Maria Njaim, for her prompt and solid guidance, understanding, and patience throughout this thesis journey.

I would like to thank Dr. Nehme Al-Khawly for his contributions as the second reader and committee member for this thesis. His expertise and feedback have been helpful in enhancing the quality of this research.

I am very grateful to my partner, whose constant encouragement and belief in my abilities have been a driving force that kept my spirits and motivation high during the years it took to start and complete this thesis.

I am also grateful to my sister for her continuous support and uplifting words that have encouraged me to push forward and keep going.

To my parents, I extend my deepest and most genuine gratitude for their unwavering support and love from the very beginning.

I would also like to acknowledge the valuable contribution of the two interviewees who generously shared their insights and expertise.

Lastly, I extend my appreciation to all those who have supported me in various ways, whether through technical assistance, insightful discussions, or simply being there for me.

Thank you all for being an essential part of this journey.

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACT	iv
CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION	I
1.1 Background and Context	1
1.2 Research Question	3
1.3 Objectives	4
1.4 Scope and Limitations	4
1.5 Chapter Structure	5
CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 Geopolitics and Security in Europe	8
2.2 Energy Security and Dependence	13
2.3 Economic Impacts of War	16
2.4 International Organizations and Conflict Resolution	
CHAPTER 3 – THEORY AND METHODOLOGY	22
3.1 Theoretical Framework	22
3.1.1 Realism and Geopolitics	23
3.1.2 Economic Growth Theory and Impacts of War	25
3.1.3 Institutionalism and Conflict Resolution	27
3.2 Methodology	
3.2.1 Research Design	
3.2.2 Data Collection	
3.2.3 Data Analysis Techniques	

CHAPTER 4 – IMPACT ON THE SECURITY OF EUROPE	35
4.1 Military Development in the Baltic Region	
4.2 Implications for NATO and Collective Defense	
4.3 Threats to Regional Stability	41
CHAPTER 5 – STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS FOR ENERGY SECURI	<b>ГҮ</b> 46
5.1 Russian Natural Gas Supply to Europe	47
5.2 European Efforts to Reduce Dependence on Russian Energy	50
5.3 Energy Security and Geopolitical Risk	54
CHAPTER 6 – ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF THE WAR	
6.1 Sanctions on Russia	59
6.2 Economic Consequences for Ukraine	
6.3 Consequences on Other European Countries	65
CHAPTER 7 – ROLE OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS	71
7.1 European Union Diplomacy and Sanctions	72
7.2 United Nations Involvement	74
7.3 Effectiveness of International Responses	77
CHAPTER 8 – CONCLUSION	81
8.1 Summary of Findings	
8.2 Recommendations	83
BIBLIOGRAPHY	87

# ABSTRACT

The impact of the Russo-Ukrainian War on European security dynamics cannot be underestimated. This research provides an extensive analysis of how this war has affected various aspects across eight chapters. It delves into regional dynamics with a special focus on how countries like those in the Baltic region have responded to changing security threats by prioritizing defense measures and promoting cooperation within their region. Additionally, it considers NATO's role in managing security implications generated by this conflict while emphasizing that achieving credible deterrence without unintended escalation is quite challenging within this context. Energy security emerges as a critical concern that deserves attention since Europe's dependence on Russian natural gas was exposed during this war; therefore, diversification strategies must be pursued to guarantee resilience despite inherent vulnerabilities. Moreover, this research examines the economic ramifications caused by the conflict demonstrating how vital industries, supply chains, and trade flows have been disrupted as a result. International organizations including the European Union and the United Nations are also scrutinized for their diplomatic efforts, implementation of sanctions, and peacekeeping missions in response to this war. The success of these international responses is evaluated considering various obstacles such as divergent interests and coordination complexities; ultimately calling for a more inclusive approach when addressing this issue. In conclusion, the findings of this research make it evident that European security dynamics have undergone a deep transformation due to the Russo-Ukrainian War; thus, offering valuable insights which can contribute to ongoing efforts aimed at managing this complex conflict.

# **CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION**

### 1. Introduction

#### **1.1 Background and Context**

The war between Ukraine and Russia, countries with a complex history, continues to be an important global issue, with its impact reaching the international community. Throughout history, these nations have gone from integration to separation leading to several unresolved conflicts. Ukraine was initially a part of the Russian Empire before becoming a Republic within the Soviet Union following the Russian Revolution. However, after gaining independence in 1991, tensions between the two countries never fully dissipated resulting in what Bebler (2015) has called a "frozen conflict".

The main reasons behind this "frozen conflict" are mainly culture, trade, borders, and energy politics. Russia considers Ukraine as a very strategic country given its geographical positioning as a gateway country for Russia's gas exports to Europe, thus leading Russians to consider Ukraine an essential space for propping up their political influence. Meanwhile, Ukraine has been growing its ties with The West, mainly the North Atlantic Treating Organization (NATO) and the European Union (EU) which have sparked further tensions, potentially decreasing the Russian geopolitical stance in the region.

The situation between the two nations escalated even further in 2014 after Ukrainian President Viktor Yanukovych was ousted from power by pro-Western demonstrators. As a response to these events amid rising tensions between the nations, Russia abruptly took over the Crimean Peninsula (Grant, 2015). Despite being part of Ukraine since 1954, Crimea had a population that primarily spoke Russian. The international community widely criticized Russia's actions; notably even United Nations General Assembly passed a resolution affirming Ukrainian territorial integrity while condemning Russia's actions simultaneously. Following this takeover of Crimea by forceful means, protests arose leading to clashes between protesters and Ukrainian government forces in eastern Ukraine; soon after, Donetsk and Luhansk People's Republics declared independence; however, later they were backed up by Russia causing more complex issues than ever before resulting in thousands dead or displaced due to the ongoing conflicts (Grant, 2015).

On February 24th, 2022, Russia launched a full-scale military invasion across Ukraine's borders. The international community encountered severe consequences that resulted in Western nations imposing economic sanctions against Russia. Furthermore, in Eastern Europe, NATO troop numbers increased with new operational mechanisms coming up added to other pertinent security challenges that cropped up affecting the EU. Meanwhile, relationships between Russia and the West continued deteriorating since tensions heightened.

The severe global implications of this war make analyzing its impact on Europe's geopolitics crucial. This thesis considers both the strategic and the security implications of the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian war in Europe with emphasis sharpening on what regards the Baltic region's<sup>1</sup> stability for several reasons. First, the Baltic region's geographical position makes it a strategic area of regional security dynamics

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Baltic Region, comprising Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania, is a geopolitical and cultural area situated on the eastern coast of the Baltic Sea in Northern Europe. These countries share historical, cultural, and geopolitical ties due to their proximity and historical interactions. Following their independence from the Soviet Union in the early 1990s, the Baltic countries pursued closer integration with Western Europe, joining organizations such as the European Union and NATO. The region is characterized by cooperation among its member states, with a focus on joint defense efforts, economic integration, and collaboration in various fields.

as it is located along NATO's eastern flank, which prompted NATO to increase its security measures in that area. Secondly, the Baltic's region historical context with Russia during Soviet Union nations' times, makes it more vulnerable to Russian influence and interference. As a result, the Baltic states face unique security challenges that are not experienced by other European countries.

#### **1.2 Research Question**

This thesis aims to analyze the impact of the ongoing war between Russia and Ukraine on regional security dynamics. The main research question guiding this study is: How has the war between Russia and Ukraine affected the security landscape of Europe including regional dynamics, the balance of power and the security challenges that have recently unfolded?

# Hypothesis:

It is likely that the Russian invasion significantly changed Europe by shifting the balance of power and initiating new conflicts between nearby countries. As a result, NATO was forced to increase its influence in Eastern Europe. The war promoted cooperation among EU countries while prioritizing energy independence and diversity over dependency on Russian resources. Such trends may predictably have long-term effects on both regional stability and international relations (Carnegie Europe 2022).

# **1.3 Objectives**

This thesis seeks to accomplish the following objectives:

1. Assess how the war has affected Europe's energy security in terms of its dependency on Russian natural gas supplies and assess initiatives taken to decrease that dependence

2. Analyze NATO's response to the effects of the conflict on the Baltic region in terms of regional stability in Europe following the Russian intervention

3. Evaluate the war's economic impact in Russia, Ukraine, and nearby countries in larger Europe

4. Assess the contributions of international organizations to mitigating and achieving peace while also balancing the interests of many global players

5. Analyze how the Russo-Ukrainian War impacted international diplomacy globally and established a crucial precedent for European security frameworks.

# **1.4 Scope and Limitations**

There are several limitations to this thesis. The main issues that may challenge a complete and thorough analysis of this topic are highlighted below:

The first limitation is the timeline considered. The thesis only focuses on assessing the implications that start with Crimea's annexation, i.e., from 2014 until end of May 2023, without looking into the past tensions and political conflicts between

Russia and Ukraine pre-annexation era that led up to the current war as the history of these two countries goes back for centuries. It also stops at May 2023 given that the war is ongoing, and the situation has been changing drastically on a very frequent basis.

The second limitation is the multifactorial nature of the Russo-Ukrainian war. Because several actors are involved in this conflict with varying interests and different goals, it makes it challenging to address all the factors at play, and to pinpoint a single factor for Russia-Ukraine War's geopolitical effects, especially since many of these factors overlap.

Another limitation is the accessibility and reliability of data that needs to be taken into consideration as a substantial amount of the data pertaining to the war is either classified or susceptible to propaganda and disinformation disseminated by diverse entities. To address this issue, the thesis relies on triangulated data collection and primary and cross-references resources.

Lastly, this thesis looks at the geopolitical and strategic implications only and it does not address humanitarian issues the war imposes on the Ukrainian people and the surrounding region.

#### **1.5 Chapter Structure**

The thesis is divided into eight chapters each of which contributes to a comprehensive analysis of the impact that the Russo-Ukrainian War has had on Europe's geopolitics as well as security dynamics within the region. Chapter 2 provides the foundation for understanding the broader context of the thesis, through the literature review, which looks into concepts critical to understanding geopolitics and security in Europe – energy security, dependence, economic consequences of war and international organizations' role in resolving conflicts.

Chapter 3 introduces the theoretical framework relied upon throughout the study and lays out the research design methodology used. The framework includes realism and geopolitics perspectives, economic growth theory, and institutionalism.

Chapter 4 marks the start of the empirical chapters. It thoroughly examines Russo-Ukrainian War impact on European security with a focus on military acceleration in various regions such as the Baltic, analyzing NATO's stance concerning collective security measures against the current threats while also considering the potential threats.

Chapter 5 shifts attention toward Energy Security implications strategically arising from the ongoing war by assessing levels of Russian gas supply dependence in Europe and the possible geopolitical risks.

Looking at economic impacts linked with war consequences, Chapter 6 assesses Russia's sanctions and Ukraine's consequent commercial repercussions felt worldwide materially affecting other countries.

In Chapter 7, we discuss international organizations' involvement in the Russo-Ukrainian War. This chapter also scrutinizes the diplomatic and sanction-based initiatives implemented by the European Union, evaluates the participation of the United Nations, and appraises the efficacy of global reactions in resolving the ongoing conflict. Finally, chapter 8 grabs key findings observed by noting patterns uncovered during preceding chapters focusing on how best to improve geopolitical stability within Eastern Europe and exploring new avenues for approaching these issues.

# **CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW**

## 2. Literature Review

The purpose of conducting this literature review is to collect and analyze relevant research that examines the Russo-Ukrainian War. Precisely, we will delve into its impact on Europe's geopolitics by focusing on security concerns, particularly energy security matters, economic implications as well strategic consequences and by also reviewing and analyzing what actions have been taken in conflict resolutions by international organizations.

### 2.1 Geopolitics and Security in Europe

Geopolitics and security are core aspects of international relations because they impact, and even shape, political affairs. By definition, geopolitics focuses on how a country's geographical location affects politics and the relationships among different states. Whereas security is defined as the protection of a state's interests against economic, social, military, and environmental threats. Because of its strategic location as a "gateway between the East and the West for international trade and security" (Remler, 2021), it remains important to assess Europe's geopolitics and security.

The historical approach is important in international relations as the study of past events and context is essential for an understanding of the present nature of a conflict. And so, to better understand how the current war is shaping the region, the World Wars, the Cold War, and their aftermath will be assessed. To confirm the latter, historian Ian Kershaw (2015, p.3), states that World War I and World War II were "defining events" for Europe as they shaped its political, economic, and social landscape. The aftermath of World War I resulted in new state formations in central and eastern Europe alongside harsh reparations imposed on Germany, which eventually contributed to Hitler's rise and the outbreak of WWII. Scholars argue that these events led to a long-term psychological trauma that ultimately enabled fascism to rise during inter-war years before culminating in WWII (Tunander et al., 1997, p.23).

World War II had lasting effects on global politics that still resonate today. Two dominant world powers emerged with Germany's destructive acceleration towards war: USA and USSR; triggering collaboration initiatives such as the NATO alliance which aims primarily at preventing large-scale conflicts. Scholar Mazower (2009, p.1) expands on the impacts of World War II stating that "The Second World War destroyed old Europe in both its physical and intellectual forms, including power structures which profoundly realigned geopolitics". The United States emerged as the dominant superpower while the Soviet Union became a powerful opponent in the Cold War.

It is clear that when examining European geopolitics and security one cannot overlook how extensively World War I and II shaped these areas. The outcomes of these wars instigated significant changes in both politics and economics throughout the continent, ultimately establishing alliances along with key institutions responsible for sustaining an impressive 75 years of peace within Europe.

The Cold War period has also affected European geopolitics and security. Van Evera (1990) argues that tensions created through nuclear weapons between the United States and the Soviet Union significantly impacted European security due to the "hovering possibility of a catastrophic conflict". Indeed, the Heinrich Böll Foundation (2014) declares Europe itself as ground zero during this time with fears regarding nuclear arms seriously threatening its stability and peace, while power blocs such as NATO and the Warsaw Pact affecting internal dynamics of Euro-politics became critical components of global struggles (CVCE, 2018).

The end of the Cold War was a turning point in European history. Germany's reunification post Berlin Wall fall, coupled with other developments, catalyzed significant transformation for Euro-security bringing about greater unification across the continent. Saxi (2010) credits German reunification mainly for this historic development due to its impact on not only uniting Europe but also fostering greater regional stability simultaneously. Additionally, new states emerged after dissolving traditional power structures due to Soviet Union's collapse presenting opportunities despite challenges on complex geopolitical landscapes amidst an unpredictable future (Petricic 2022).

Sletteland (2008) noted that with the end of the Cold War, European security policy had to be scrutinized and thoroughly reviewed. Following that examination, new programs were developed focusing on the modernization of the security sector specifically in former communist regimes; it was decided that integration within the European security framework was required. Some of the solutions were the establishment of the European Union's Common Security and Defense Policy, a policy that empowers the EU to use military tools to prevent crises, and the enlargement of NATO to include former Warsaw Pact members. To address rising threats, cooperation, integration, as well as the creation of new strategies, became the new standard according to Clausen and Albrecht (2022).

The Cold War left a lasting mark on European geopolitical affairs and security dynamics. It shaped how future strategies were devised by every nation as well as their policies regarding defense for several decades afterward. At the time when this chilly relationship between nations concluded, this brought around unexplored possibilities that allowed integration opportunities among different regions in Europe; nevertheless, it did not come without any significant challenge which required quick reaction times due to changing global events that affected geopolitics across the globe, while countries attempted to sustain strong levels of overall safety amidst emerging threats from afar.

Evaluating a nation's influence within Europe's security context requires an appreciation of the interplay between major geopolitical events and the concepts of 'hard' versus 'soft' power. In international relations, the distinction between "hard" and "soft" power is presently a central concern, with particular significance regarding European geopolitics. Soft power is described by Nye (2004) as attaining desired outcomes through attraction rather than coercion or payment methods. This approach underscores the role of culture, politics, and economics in shaping decisions made around foreign policy matters. Across from this understanding is hard power, which denotes utilizing coercive tactics like military force or economic sanctions for achieving political aims (Mearsheimer, 2001).

According to Hill (2011), conventional EU goals have included using economic and diplomatic cooperation rather than military force to address security concerns in Europe. Snyder (2018) argues that the financial strength of the Union has a significant impact on this strategy. However, current events like the ongoing war in Ukraine and populist movements question these assumptions as there is an increasing need for NATO to adopt more hard-power strategies. Hill (2011) asserts that the EU can leverage democratic principles while promoting world peace and human rights protection through the use of soft power resources. However, whether this strategy can be successful in any particular circumstance, depends on internal coherence combined with external players acknowledging their leadership. NATO's primary purpose, on the other hand, is to prevent rivals like Russia by using hard-powered deterrent methods.

A profound understanding of European security and geopolitics requires examining both "hard" and "soft" power concepts. Although the EU has typically favored soft power strategies, recent global events have pushed NATO towards employing more hard power tactics explicitly. The Russo-Ukrainian War is an excellent example of a significant event with regard to European geopolitical developments. Critically analyzing the war, reveals inherent limitations within current EU foreign and security policies as highlighted by researchers Hill, Smith & Vanhoonacker (2017). Their analysis indicates that increased coordination among member states would have led to a stronger response from Europe during this crisis. As noted by Hill et al. (2017), Europe's foreign and security policy will only be effective once it achieves genuine unity while dealing with crucial issues.

The impact that the Russo-Ukrainian war has had on Europe is far-reaching as pointed out by The International Crisis Group (2020). According to them, the war, Russia claiming control over the Crimean Peninsula, and backing separatist forces within Eastern Ukraine, has caused a lot of instability within Europe and has increased the military tensions between the Western Nations and Russia. The revised and modernized strategies and programs that were previously discussed are yet again under serious threat as they reveal limitations regarding the region's safety and defense mechanism, pushing the region to reassess its safety strategies and to balance out the use of the two power strategies previously defined. To support this perspective, Remler (2021) suggests that the Russian-Ukrainian war has prompted major shifts in how Europeans approach their own security. He argues that this war has shaken the region, forcing it to reevaluate, once again, its current security strategies and to take proactive measures to ensure its own safety.

To summarize, the war between Russia and Ukraine impacted the dynamics and increased tensions among regional actors, leading to a power balance shift. The war has also negatively impacted the region's safety and security and one of the many lessons learned for Europe is the need to reassess its own defense mechanism and to intensify collaboration among the region as well as across borders.

### 2.2 Energy Security and Dependence

Concerns about the national security implications on relying on non-EU suppliers, as well as the vulnerabilities introduced by insufficient backup options if primary providers cut off critical supplies when crises occur, or conflicts spread more widely within global markets overall, have contributed to several debates about Europe's energy consumption and sources. According to Ghaleb (2011), Russia uses its natural gas resources as a tool to sway its neighbors in the area. Slakaityte et al. (2022) assert the latter by highlighting the Baltic Sea region's vulnerability, which heavily relies on Russia's energy sources, hence allowing Russia to use resource manipulation and impose its control. Another significant argument by Ladislaw et al. (2014) focuses on concerns over Europe's reliance on imported natural gas, oil, and coal for its energy requirements. Despite efforts to reduce reliance on coal by increasing the usage of

natural gas due to trends in the decline of petroleum main sources, there are still concerns about geopolitical conflicts.

The heavy dependence of Europe on imported Russian gas continues to raise concerns, as already discussed earlier. The informative study conducted by Picciariello et al.in 2022 sheds light on the prevailing situation in Ukraine while offering valuable insights into Russia's decision to halt its natural gas exports to Europe. This turn of events draws attention to various vulnerabilities, including associated risks linked to energy security, concerns about supply instability, and the susceptibility of the gas market in relation to geopolitical conflicts. In order to effectively address Europe's main concern of relying heavily on Russian gas, it is advisable to explore diverse options for gas suppliers and promote the use of alternative renewable energy sources. The thesis also delves deeper into the geopolitical implications associated with this conflict by asserting that Russia is leveraging its control over gas resources as a tool for forcibly imposing political influence on neighboring nations. Therefore, adopting a more cohesive European energy strategy is recommended in order to effectively tackle these interconnected challenges.

European countries' response towards addressing their dependence on energy security encompasses multiple measures. One crucial avenue involves diversifying resources alongside boosting operational efficiency for existing sources. Research by Legowik and Jarosiewicz (2021) proposes strategies such as the utilization of renewable energies like wind and solar power, which not only enhances supply security but also diminishes reliance on fossil fuels. Furthermore, promoting supply diversity via the adoption of renewable energy sources and liquified natural gas is another recommended pathway. An additional aspect worth highlighting centers on effective infrastructure

14

sharing within the framework of the "Energy Union"<sup>2</sup> proposed by the European Union Institute for Security Studies (EUISS). During this effort, it is important to note that collaboration with Russia has been a focus area for the EU. As asserted by Belkin (2008), by implementing diverse policies and programs aimed at bolstering energy source diversity, the European Union takes immense pride in leading efforts to achieve energy security objectives within its foreign policy aims (p.76). This perspective is strengthened by Ozawa (2022), who underscores the EU's dedication to unity and consistency alongside exploring diverse strategies to reduce energy dependency while safeguarding their energy policy.

Another strategy considered is the creation of alternative pipelines. The Southern Gas Corridor project is one of these initiatives and it transports gas from the Caspian Sea straight to Europe. Another project was the Baltic Pipeline that transports gas from the North Sea to Poland via Denmark, however, it was recently destroyed. These pipelines supposedly provide alternate gas transit routes, hence minimizing dependence on a single source. And so, the EU has been trying to address the energyrelated challenges by revising its energy policy framework, prioritizing the issue within the region, and working towards solutions such as reducing energy dependency – which were extensively elaborated above.

In conclusion, the war has had and continues to have a significant impact on Europe's' energy security. The consequences faced by the region highlight the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Energy Union Strategy is an initiative undertaken by the European Commission with the purpose of effectively coordinating the transformation of the energy supply in Europe. This project was introduced in February 2015 with a primary objective to ensure that energy provision within the region is secure environmentally sustainable, economically competitive, and affordable. In order to accomplish these goals, the Energy Union concentrates on five interconnected aspects which all contribute to its overall mission: energy security, the establishment of an internal energy market, promotion of energy efficiency measures, decarbonization efforts aimed at reducing carbon emissions within the economy as well as research and innovation initiatives designed to enhance competitiveness.

immediate necessity for Europe to establish stronger partnerships, develop an effective energy strategy and diversify its sources of energy. Furthermore, this conflict serves as a stark reminder that protecting the regions' geopolitical interests in energy security requires reducing reliance on Russian gas, which Russia has leveraged as a tool of state power against neighboring nations. However, the proposed solutions have been limited and some have proven futile thus underscoring the need for alternative options explored in the empirical chapters.

#### 2.3 Economic Impacts of War

The invasion carried out by Russia has had detrimental consequences for everyone's economy. Weale (2015) puts forth an argument suggesting that the war has caused significant harm to, first, Ukraine's economy resulting in a complete standstill of economic activities and later propelling the country into a state of recession (Centre for Economic Policy Research, 2021). Many factors have caused the latter, some of which are: trade disruptions, capital flight, decreased GDP, and increased inflation rates and trade costs. The invasion has also impacted international trade; a study conducted by Darvas and Martins (2022) sought to examine the war's impacts and shed light on its underlying economic consequences. The authors highlight the spill-over effects on neighboring countries emphasizing Europe's economic interdependence and how this shock is transmitted within the region. They also address unintentional ramifications of economic sanctions imposed on Russia as well as disruptions in energy supply that affect both Russia itself and European nations.

As mentioned on this matter, there is no denying that even the Russian economy has taken quite a hit from this ongoing war. Sanctions imposed on them, along with an increase in capital flight, paired with plummeting oil prices, have collectively pushed Russia into an undeniable state of economic recession (The Economist, 2022). The energy sector seems particularly impacted as stricter restrictions are placed on their ability to export both oil & gas across European markets, causing quite a dip overall all while dangerously reducing the global demand for oil in general (Bello & Akanbi 2022). Furthermore, the RAND Corporation (2023) insists that investment opportunities and overall business activity seem to be significantly dwindling down in Ukraine these days all but further worsening the already faced economic consequences of this prolonged war. They go on to note how much business confidence has weakened across Russia nowadays leading to an obvious decline in investments as well as noticeable capital inflows.

The Russo-Ukrainian War has had significant economic ramifications not limited to Ukraine or Russia but impacting the entire global economy. According to research from the Centre for Economic Policy Research (2021), this conflict has awakened greater uncertainties and reduced investments across Europe especially within countries closely connected to both Russia and Ukraine. Likewise highlighted by The Economist (2022), the consequences of this war include a decrease in global oil prices alongside disruptions in trade flows and supply chains within Europe, affecting nations both inside as well as outside of the continent. Consequently, regional players along with international entities have responded through an array of measures such as imposing economic sanctions or delivering aid packages. As per the findings from the Centre for Economic Policy Research (2021), it is observed that EU member states have opted for economic sanctions against Russia whilst concurrently extending substantial financial assistance towards Ukraine. Similarly emphasized by RAND Corporation (2023), The United States has undertaken economic sanctions on Russia complemented by financial and military assistance to Ukraine. However, it remains to be seen how successful these efforts will be in mitigating the economic effects of this international conflict as noted by The Economist (2022).

To conclude, the war did cause major economic consequences for the countries and the region. These consequences range from trade and investment to energy markets. Different regional and international actors have responded to the said consequences by implementing various measures, that, however, still need to be validated.

#### 2.4 International Organizations and Conflict Resolution

International organizations' engagement has significantly contributed to attempts to resolve conflicts all around the globe. Important organizations like the UN and NATO and the EU are now in charge of resolving a variety of issues, from internal unrest to conflicts between states. However, it should be understood that because of a number of factors at play, achieving success in conflict resolution via these international institutions may be rather difficult.

In conflict resolution, the UN has to maintain a balance between upholding national sovereignty and acting when needed. Thakur (2006) underlines this as one of the key challenges the organization faces. Within the context of the UN system, maintaining ideals like state sovereignty and non-intervention is essential. Nonetheless, it is becoming clearer that governments sometimes fall short in their responsibility to protect their own people, causing internal unrest, thus leading international organizations to act upon it through the concept of the Responsibility to Protect. As a result of this, balancing the principles of non-intervention and the organization's responsibility to protect is challenging, causing frequent tensions between the organizations and countries when deciding to intervene and facilitate peacekeeping and peacebuilding initiatives.

Through deployment, the UN carries out peacekeeping operations in countries across the world that are involved in war. Unfortunately, a number of factors have led to this organization's criticism. These include limitations brought on by underfunding or a lack of resources, as well as issues with poorly planned training, lack of preparations, and limited mandates. Regarding recent developments, Chesterman (2007) emphasizes how UN operations have shifted from an "observation-only" posture to a more proactive one where even the use of force is permitted. However, that shift in operations comes with challenges. Regional organizations have emerged as "challengers to the UN" -informally. These organizations, such as BRICS<sup>3</sup> and non-governmental organizations, are now posing a serious threat to the UN's dominance in peace talks (Wallensteen and Bjurner, 2014). According to these "challengers", by using their understanding of regional dynamics and their knowledge of cultural norms, they improve the chances of an even more effective conflict resolution in their specific areas.

The European Union (EU) is a significant player in conflict resolution and peacebuilding - Biscop (2013) acknowledges that the EU has demonstrated its capacity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The acronym BRICS represents an alliance comprising the world's foremost emerging economies, specifically Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa. Functioning as an autonomous international organization, the BRICS Forum actively fosters collaboration in various domains such as commerce, politics, and culture amongst the member nations of BRICS.

and commitment by actively participating in various peacekeeping missions worldwide. To effectively tackle the root causes of conflicts, the EU employs a comprehensive strategy that encompasses diplomatic, economic, and military approaches. In addition to this point, Ejdus and Juncos (2017) emphasize another factor that contributes significantly to the increasing transformative impact of the EU - its remarkable ability to promote norms, values, and principles aimed at fostering long-term peace and stability. However, the collaboration between international organizations in handling conflicts has encountered certain challenges, particularly throughout their post-Cold War journey. NATO and the EU have reportedly encountered internal conflicts and struggled for power, and such circumstances are suggested by Webber, Sperling, and Smith (2012). As a result of this rivalry, there arises competition for resources and influence, leading to duplication of efforts and inefficiencies. As part of this ongoing competition, the ability to effectively work together toward resolving conflicts may be hindered.

To sum up, international organizations are vital components of global endeavors dedicated to resolving conflicts. The discussed organizations have actively participated in an array of missions with the aim of resolving disputes. Although regional organizations offer certain benefits, when it comes to settling conflicts within their specific jurisdictions, collaboration between these institutions is indispensable for guaranteeing positive outcomes. However, numerous hurdles need to be tackled beforehand in order to ensure effective collaboration. These challenges include finding a harmonious balance between preserving national sovereignties and intervening in conflicts that will enable us to access more funding and resources as well as successfully managing competition among different organizational bodies.

# **Conclusion:**

The literature has examined the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian War on European geopolitics focusing on various aspects of the research question. While a comprehensive review of the security and geopolitical consequences is provided, inconsistencies among sources and scholars have been highlighted. Furthermore, there is a lack of clear connection between sub-sections in the review, as well as a failure to address contradictory findings regarding the effectiveness of EU's measures to address energy security challenges. Additionally, contradictions exist in the literature concerning the efficacy of measures taken by actors to mitigate the economic impacts of the war. Consequently, further empirical studies are necessary to address these gaps and discrepancies.

# **CHAPTER 3 – THEORY AND METHODOLOGY**

# **3.1 Theoretical Framework**

To establish a foundation and gain a better understanding of how the war on Ukraine has affected the region, we will delve into several theoretical frameworks.

The first relevant theory is realism and geopolitics. Realism emphasizes power and self-interest. While geopolitics considers geography as a means for a country's benefit. Using this theory will help identify relationships between regional actors, comprehend shifts in power and assess emerging security challenges.

The second theoretical framework we will explore is the economic growth theory and its impact on warfare. This theory suggests that conflicts can significantly impact trade, investment, and overall economic development. Our objective is to evaluate the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian War on the European economy while considering any potential long-term effects.

The third approach under consideration is institutionalism and conflict resolution. Institutionalism focuses on how international institutions influence politics while conflict resolution theory emphasizes peaceful settlements through negotiation and mediation. By drawing upon these theories, we will evaluate whether amicable resolutions are possible amidst this conflict and explore their implications for Europe's future security architecture and international relations.

By examining the Russo-Ukrainian War using these three theoretical frameworks our goal is to gain a comprehensive understanding of its impact on Europe's security dynamics. We will explore different ways to apply these perspectives in analyzing the conflict and its implications. Furthermore, we will highlight each framework's critical contributions to our understanding of this pressing issue.

### 3.1.1 Realism and Geopolitics

Within the field of international affairs, realism provides a crucial theoretical foundation. It emphasizes nation-to-nation competitiveness, self-interest, and power dynamics. This perspective allows a better understanding of how the Russo-Ukrainian War affected the security situation in Europe. It explores the assumption that nations act as the main players in international politics, driven by their needs for power, survival, and strategic interests. A lot of focus is placed on revealing the fundamental causes of behavior. In particular, the study investigates fundamental realist concepts such as state sovereignty, the balance of power, and strategic competition. By conducting such analyses, this thesis hopes to provide light on how the actions of Russia, Ukraine, and other relevant parties influence changes in the context of security in Europe.

Within our research question lies important considerations regarding the Russo Ukrainian War - its impact on Europe's security dynamics and relationships among regional actors. By employing a realist and geopolitical analysis, we gain invaluable insights into the power dynamics and strategic interests operating within this region. As highlighted by Szostek (2017), Russia's strategic narrative plays a vital role in shaping this conflict, linking Crimea's annexation with broader narratives surrounding historical injustices and the protection of ethnic Russians. This framing enables Russia to validate its intervention while asserting influence over neighboring countries. From a realist standpoint, these actions can be viewed as Russia working toward securing its strategic interests in that area while reaffirming its position as a significant global power (Szostek, 2017).

When it comes to making decisions on foreign policy, Russia puts a significant amount of weight on identity and geopolitics. Putin, according to Roberts (2017), bases his foreign policy on feelings of resentment and a desire to restore Russia back to the status of a leading global power. Russia is working towards establishing itself as a crucial player in global matters by strategically positioning itself against Western dominance and enhancing its influence within the former Soviet territory. This can be viewed as a well-planned endeavor to safeguard Russia's accessibility to vital regions and resources in the area (Roberts, 2017).

Rutland (2021) enlightens us on the complexities surrounding the conflict between Russia and the West over Ukraine. According to him, there lies a profound conflict behind the surface tensions rooted in the divergent ideals and objectives of these opposing parties. Both sides are actively seeking to shape the region's future based on their own strategic and political interests. From a realist perspective and geopolitical analysis, this conflict can be understood as an attempt to gain power and influence in a region that holds significant importance. Moscow's invasion of Crimea and its support for separatists in eastern Ukraine have resulted in outcomes that favor Russia.

In conclusion, examining the Russo-Ukrainian War from a realist and geopolitical perspective, while considering the existing literature on the subject, provides us with a valuable comprehension of the security and strategic implications of this conflict in Europe. By giving thought to power dynamics, cultural identity, geographical factors, and available resources within this theoretical framework, we are

24

able to obtain valuable insights into the motives driving the conflicts development and its possible implications for European security architecture and international relations.

#### **3.1.2 Economic Growth Theory and Impacts of War**

The aim of this study is to employ economic growth theory in order to provide insight into the relationship between warfare and the economy. This interdisciplinary study recognizes that conflicts can substantially impact both directly involved countries and other neighboring nations. Given the Russo-Ukrainian War, this thesis evaluates its economic implications. Specifically, it investigates how this war disrupts trade, discourages foreign investment, and inflicts infrastructure damage - resulting in significant economic consequences. The study also acknowledges the significance of economic interdependence and considers the unintended effects of imposed economic sanctions. By examining these key elements comprehensively, it aims to understand how the war has impacted the economy of Ukraine, Russia, and the region.

In their extensive analysis, Gartzke et al. (2001) propose that economic interdependence can function as a deterrent against international conflict. Nevertheless, they raise an essential point regarding the potential drawbacks associated with implementing economic sanctions. It is noteworthy that these sanctions may not always yield desired outcomes and could potentially worsen prevailing economic conditions for both targeted nations as well as those enforcing them. This perspective accentuates the crucial importance of exercising prudent judgment when deciding upon such measures. Extending this line of reasoning, Collier (2009) asserts that nations characterized by weak institutional structures and limited economic development are more susceptible to experiencing violence and conflict. Furthermore, he posits that armed conflicts in low-income countries can have grave economic repercussions. These include disruptions in trade, and discouragement of foreign investment, and extensive damage to physical infrastructure. Colliers' analysis highlights the significant long-term economic costs associated with conflict. Furthermore, he asserts that impoverished nations simply cannot afford to engage in warfare, further worsening their disadvantaged circumstances. Therefore, it is crucial to address underlying socioeconomic issues in a concerted manner in order to effectively prevent and mitigate violent conflicts.

There have been arguments put forth that propose the conflict is primarily fueled by a sense of state patriotism and a desire to safeguard the interests of ethnic Russians residing in Ukraine. Conversely, it has been suggested by some that Russia's annexation of Crimea was driven, at least in part, by its intention to gain control over the region's plentiful offshore oil and gas reserves (Lawrence, 2022) – which suggests that economic factors did indeed impact Russia's decision to launch a full-scale invasion on Ukraine.

Nevertheless, these economic consequences surpassed Russia and Ukraine. As Cifuentes Faura (2022) points out, Europe has also been severely affected by this conflict. The impact on the European economy can be seen from two angles. Firstly, Western countries' imposition of economic sanctions on Russia has had a profound effect on trade and investment between Europe and Russia. These sanctions have created barriers and limitations that have hindered economic activities between the two regions. Additionally, the war has led to an increase in energy prices in Europe, particularly natural gas prices. This is due to Ukraine's role as a crucial transit country for Russian gas exports to Europe. With the disruption in gas supply caused by the conflict, some European nations have had no choice but to seek alternative sources of energy. These alternatives are significantly more expensive than Russian gas imports, burdening countries heavily dependent on these imports. Thus, it is evident that both these aspects have had a considerable impact on the European economy affecting nations reliant on trade with Russia and those heavily dependent on Russian gas imports.

To sum up, while economic interdependence may yield opportunities for resolving conflicts and building peace, it is not a remedy for all challenges. The Russo-Ukrainian War has indisputably made its mark on the economy causing substantial losses for both nations and potentially jeopardizing long-term investments and trade relations. Furthermore, the implementation of economic sanctions by Western nations has resulted in unintended consequences that further amplify the war's economic impact. Europe's disruption in gas supply incited a surge in energy prices aggravating the aftermath of this war on various economies. Consequently, any measures taken to tackle this conflict and promote peace must consider all facets at play, such as the underlying economic dynamics.

#### **3.1.3 Institutionalism and Conflict Resolution**

Institutionalism and conflict resolution theories offer insightful perspectives when examining the potential for peace and the implications for the future of European security architecture and international relations within the context of the Russo-Ukrainian War. Institutionalism, in particular, highlights the significance of international institutions, norms, and rules in shaping global politics and fostering collaboration amidst interdependence and anarchy. This thesis suggests that international institutions like the European Union can contribute to conflict resolution by providing a platform for dialogue and promoting shared norms and values.

Conversely, conflict resolution theories prioritize peaceful resolution through negotiation, mediation, and other conflict resolution techniques. In this regard, this thesis explores how approaches such as dialogue, mediation, and confidence-building measures can help alleviate tensions and facilitate a peaceful settlement to the Russo-Ukrainian War. By closely examining these theoretical frameworks, this study aims to offer valuable insights into the potential for peace as well as shed light on the future of European security architecture and international relations following this conflict.

According to Keohane, institutions have the capacity to facilitate cooperation in situations characterized by interdependence and anarchy (Keohane, 1988). In the context of the Russo Ukrainian War, international institutions like the European Union have been actively engaged in monitoring the conflict and facilitating dialogue between the warring parties. The participation of these institutions indicates their potential contribution to conflict resolution through offering a neutral space for dialogue and promoting common norms and values.

On the contrary, conflict resolution theories highlight the potential for peaceful resolution of disputes by means of negotiation, mediation, and other forms of conflict resolution. According to Fisher (1993), interactive conflict resolution approaches can assist in facilitating the resolution of conflicts by enhancing communication and understanding between opposing groups, identifying common ground, and exploring alternative solutions to disputed issues. These approaches hold particular significance in the context of the Russo-Ukrainian War. Finding a peaceful resolution has proven to be challenging for the parties involved. Dialogue, mediation, and confidence building

measures serve as effective conflict resolution techniques that promote peace and alleviate tensions among the parties.

Through harnessing these theories, we are able to delve deeper into exploring the potential for peace amidst the war thereby unraveling its implications for future developments in European security architecture and international relations. Employing international institutions in combination with conflict resolution techniques paves the way for fostering a cooperative and peaceful approach to conflict resolution. Consequently, tensions are alleviated while stability is promoted within the region. Nevertheless, it is imperative to acknowledge that Russia's persistence in utilizing tactics like disinformation and propaganda underscores the criticality of a synchronized and efficient response from European institutions (Kolesnikov, 2019). As such, it becomes evident that institutional effectiveness alongside proactive state engagement plays an instrumental role in effectively addressing emerging security challenges, while concurrently working towards cultivating a more harmonious global order.

In conclusion, examining the Russo-Ukrainian War through various theoretical frameworks allows us to gain a comprehensive understanding of how this conflict has affected the security dynamics of Europe. Realism and geopolitics shed light on the power dynamics and strategic interests at play in the region. Economic growth theory highlights the significant economic consequences of this war. Additionally, institutionalism and conflict resolution theories offer valuable insights into the possibilities for achieving peace. This war has severely disrupted stability in the region and its potential ramifications for European security architecture and international relations are still uncertain.

### **3.2 Methodology**

This sub-chapter discusses the research design, data collection, and data analysis techniques employed in this study.

### **3.2.1 Research Design**

The chosen research design for this study is a qualitative approach, specifically utilizing a process-tracing analysis to test theories. Process tracing is a method that investigates the causal mechanisms connecting an initial event. In this instance, it connects the Russian-Ukrainian war to its resulting outcomes or impacts on European security dynamics. This approach is well suited for this study because it enables a comprehensive exploration of the causal pathways connecting the war to its effects on the region aiding in the identification of specific mechanisms and factors accountable for these effects.

The influence of the Russian-Ukrainian conflict on European security dynamics must be evaluated by carefully examining key events and processes as part of a processtracing analysis. This analysis involves looking at events that occurred before war broke out, looking into the historical reasons for the conflict, seeing what various regional entities did in reaction, and determining how the conflict developed over time. The goal of this analytical effort is to identify the important factors that have contributed to security landscape changes in Europe over a long period of time while establishing cause-and-effect linkages between this particular warfare and those changes.

## 3.2.2 Data Collection

This study's data collection process primarily relies on official documents such as government reports, policy statements, and academic articles as the primary source of information. These sources offer valuable insights into various aspects related to the Russian-Ukrainian war including the geopolitical context, positions and interests held by relevant actors in the region, as well as how the conflict has evolved over time.

Furthermore, interviews with two experts<sup>4</sup> and representatives from international organizations are conducted for gathering primary data. These interviews take place online and are recorded and transcribed. Their purpose is twofold: gaining insights into how the war has impacted Europe's security dynamics and obtaining information about actions taken by different regional players along with their responses. In order to ensure consistency and thoroughness during interviews, a semi-structured approach is adopted. This means that while there is an outlined set of topics to cover, there is also room for exploring unexpected avenues during discussions. Through the use of semi-structured questions, we are able to delve into interviewees' experiences and perspectives in a more profound manner. This method permits us to uncover specific details that may otherwise be overlooked when employing more rigid forms of questioning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To ascertain the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian war on Europe's security dynamics two eminent European security and international relations experts were interviewed. The selection process was based on their expertise and qualifications:

<sup>1.</sup> Dr. Joana Hosa: Dr.Hosa is a distinguished policy fellow with The Wider Europe program at The European Council on Foreign Relations (https://ecfr.eu). As a specialist in European security and international relations, her research extensively tackles the geopolitical landscape of Europe.

<sup>2.</sup> Ms. Susi Dennison: Serving as Senior Policy Fellow & Director within The European Power Programme at ECFR, Ms. Dennison has garnered expertise within EU integration matters as well as transatlantic relations accompanying knowledge about what directly affects European Security. This comprehensive understanding allows her to provide valuable insights concerning the implications arising from the war.

In order to uphold trustworthiness and credibility in collecting data through interviews for this study, multiple measures have been implemented. Firstly, careful consideration has been given in designing interview questions that facilitate clear and specific responses from participants. Secondly, an effort has been made to obtain a diverse sample of interviewees who possess varied perspectives and experiences. Thirdly, validation has occurred by comparing acquired data from interviews with other sources such as official documents, media reports, and academic literature. Such procedures serve to identify any discrepancies or inconsistencies within the obtained data while ensuring its accuracy.

Respecting the significance of data collection, we highlight the importance of employing the principle of triangulation within our research framework. Its fundamental purpose lies in enhancing credibility and reliability by incorporating information from various sources and perspectives accordingly. In this study, official documents emerge as our primary data source; thus, allowing us to achieve an allencompassing comprehension regarding how Europe's security dynamics evolved amidst the Russian-Ukrainian war turmoil. Furthermore, such an approach proves integral in delineating influential factors, as well as causal mechanisms that sustained such impact over a prolonged period.

### **3.2.3 Data Analysis Techniques**

For the purpose of carrying out an efficient data analysis process in this study, a combination of techniques is applied. Initially, one key step involves thoroughly reviewing the collected data with the aim of identifying any emerging patterns or themes. This entails organizing the information into categories while simultaneously identifying both parallels and distinctions present within it. Secondly, employing causal mechanisms derived from a process tracing approach allows for an examination of how war influences European security, energy systems, and economic dynamics.

The main aim of this data analysis is to identify the significant events and decisions that have led to new security challenges and changed the dynamics among regional actors. By taking this approach, we can gain valuable insights into how warfare has directly influenced the balance of power within Europe and globally. In order to ensure accuracy in this analysis, both official documents are examined meticulously, and interviews are conducted for verification purposes. Moreover, insights from pertinent literature in international relations and security studies are taken into account to provide an enriched outlook. By merging the existing theories with collected data, a more nuanced understanding can be achieved regarding how war impacts Europe's security dynamics. This entails exploring newly emerging challenges as well as contemplating potential changes to European security architecture and international relationships. To thoroughly analyze the data, a systematic approach is imperative in identifying cause-and-effect relationships between the Russo-Ukrainian War and its impact on the region. The outcomes glean valuable insights into complex geopolitical dynamics within Europe thus clearly demonstrating their implications for regional and global security concerns.

Now that our comprehensive data analysis has been completed, we can undertake a detailed examination of specific impacts resulting from the war on Europe. Within these ensuing chapters, we delve deep into various aspects such as security dynamics, strategic implications regarding energy security, and economic consequences along with assessing how international organizations have played a pivotal role in addressing and lessening any detrimental effects brought forth by this conflict.

# **CHAPTER 4 – IMPACT ON THE SECURITY OF EUROPE**

The Russo-Ukrainian war, by its very nature, has left a lasting impact on the security dynamics of Europe. It has not only reshaped relationships between regional actors but has also posed a challenge to collective defense mechanisms. Consequently, this conflict has introduced new threats that undermine regional stability. Dr. Joanna Hosa's analysis stresses the significance of this evolving geopolitical landscape in Europe and its implications for European security, architecture, and international relations (Joanna Hosa interview, June 2023). Throughout Europe, there is an increasing recognition of the necessity to enhance autonomy and self-defense measures. Uncertainties about future developments persist, and it is crucial to consider potential threats faced by neighboring countries including the Baltic States and Ukraine. As a result, discussions on reinforcing European security and fortifying against various challenges such as migration and information propaganda have become more prevalent. During an interview with Dr. Joana Hosa, these concerns were discussed in depth, shedding further light on the desire for increased autonomy within Europe as well as the need to respond effectively to potential threats that may arise in the future.

One area warranting significant attention pertains to the ongoing military developments in the Baltic Region. By thoroughly analyzing how their military forces adapt over time and examining their exercises, our objective is to gain insights into how these changes influence security dynamics for neighboring nations. Expert input from Dr. Hosa is invaluable in highlighting the monumental nature of these developments and underscoring that Europe can no longer be considered immune from threats given the growing concern over an imminent prolonged large-scale war. Moreover, it is essential to consider the implications for NATO and collective defense efforts in this landscape. The existing conflict has severely tested alliances and security cooperation among member states of NATO. By scrutinizing NATO's responses, adaptations, and measures taken while addressing challenges arising from the Russo-Ukrainian war situation; we can obtain a nuanced understanding of how this alliance's role has evolved within regional security arrangements thus far. Dr. Hosa's remarks emphasize an urgent need for European countries to re-evaluate their existing security commitments and allocate more resources towards bolstering their military capabilities.

Regional stability faces grave risks due to the ongoing conflict, encompassing political, economic, and social dimensions. Consequently, it becomes imperative to delve into the factors that contribute to such instability alongside assessing its potential aftermaths for neighboring countries. The expertise shared by Dr. Hosa accentuates a pivotal transformation in Europe's security perspective whereby Germany and other European nations are ramping up their military spending while reevaluating their security objectives (Joanna Hosa interview, June 2023).

Hence, this empirical section seeks to present a thorough analysis of the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian War on Europe's security. We will delve into military advancements in the Baltic Region, the implications for NATO and collective defense and the potential threats to regional stability. The goal is to unveil the complex consequences of this conflict and enhance comprehension of its effects on European security dynamics.

### 4.1 Military Development in the Baltic Region

Without a doubt, the military developments taking place in the Baltic area and affected by factors related to the Russo-Ukrainian War have permanently impacted the security situation in Europe. By analyzing Russia's military interests in this domain, Forsström (2019) effectively explains key strategies and perceptions that inform these ongoing developments. Given Russia's actions involving Crimea as well as its active engagement in the Russo-Ukrainian War, concerns surrounding security have understandably intensified among Baltic nations. Consequently, there has been an urgent reevaluation of defense policies with a clear emphasis on bolstering defense capabilities within the Baltic region itself.

A statement from the European Military Agency in 2022 underscored the vital role that military cooperation and investment play in addressing novel security challenges. In light of these evolving security concerns, Baltic countries have moved to increase their military budget substantially, while prioritizing modernization efforts within their respective armed forces. During his speech delivered in 2023, Minister Jonson eloquently emphasized the necessity of fortifying military capabilities as an immediate response to changing security concerns. This demonstrates the Baltic countries' unanimous recognition of adopting a proactive stance aimed at defending their security interests and fending off potential future attacks. Furthermore, with an increase in the value placed upon regional cooperation among the Baltic states as highlighted by Minister Pevkur in his speech delivered in 2023, Ukraine's triumph assumes great significance while underlining the need for ongoing collaboration among Northern Group nations<sup>5</sup>. Through this unified approach to security challenges and shared endeavors to maintain stability and deterrence measures specifically tailored for their regions' context—regional players clearly comprehend both their interdependence and mutual long-term objectives.

The military advancements in the Baltic region have significant implications for not only European security architecture but also international relations. The increased investment in defense and modernization efforts directly contribute to the rebalancing of power dynamics in the region. Furthermore, these developments serve to underscore the cruciality of collective defense within NATO as the Baltic countries actively seek reassurance and support from their allies. Additionally, it is essential to recognize that these advancements emphasize the necessity for improved regional and international collaboration. In order to effectively tackle shared security challenges and acknowledge the interdependence of regional security, joint exercises, information sharing, and coordination of defense strategies are essential measures that must be taken into account.

To conclude, due to the Russo-Ukrainian War's influence on military progressions in the Baltic region, there has been an evaluation of defense policies accompanied by a sincere endeavor to strengthen defense capabilities. A valuable understanding of these advancements can be gained from analyzing Russian military interests as well as insights from the European Defense Agency's report along with speeches made by Minister Jonson and Minister Pevkur. In their quest for security assurance amidst emerging security challenges, Baltic countries have displayed

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  The Northern Group is a UK-led format established in 2012. It involves 12 countries – 3 Baltic countries, 5 Nordic countries, Poland, the Netherlands, and Germany. The group acts as a consultative forum on European security issues, NATO-EU relations, and other topics relevant to the region, such as military mobility, the development of transformation technologies and climate change.

proactive measures like increased defense spending, relevant modernization practices, and fostering regional cooperation. These developments hold relevance beyond just this region's borders emphasizing collective defense importance, regional collaboration, and international coordination to maintain peace not just within the Baltics but also across Europe. This inevitably necessitates cooperative actions like joint exercises, information exchange, and synchronized defensive approaches in order to effectively address shared threats thus establishing a robust security infrastructure.

## 4.2 Implications for NATO and Collective Defense

The Russo-Ukrainian War has had a significant impact on NATO and its commitment to collective defense in Europe. NATO has taken important steps to enhance deterrence and strengthen defense capabilities in the Baltic region and other parts of Europe in response to the changing security environment (NATO, 2022; NATO, 2023). The initiative "NATO's Strengthened Presence in the Baltic Sea Region" demonstrates NATO's proactive approach to addressing the security challenges posed by the Russo-Ukrainian War. By increasing rotational deployments, conducting extensive exercises, and making infrastructure improvements, NATO aims to protect member states in the Baltic region and reaffirm its commitment to collective defense in Europe.

The contribution made by Rynning's analysis enhances our comprehension of the challenges linked with implementing collective defense strategies within NATO (Rynning, 2021). In light of ongoing Russo-Ukrainian War events, Rynning examines how maintaining a careful mix between establishing credible deterrence and minimizing unintended escalation presents its own set of dilemmas. Furthermore, this analysis underscores how crucial it is for effective management of conflict implications and upholding collective defense principles that strategic decision-making takes place among alliance members.

One year ago, Russia began a forceful war against Ukraine. In response to this conflict, the North Atlantic Council has released a statement acknowledging the profound effect it has had on NATO's collective defense (North Atlantic Council, 2023). The statement recognizes the difficulties and dangers brought about by Russia's' actions while also highlighting the immense importance of NATO's steadfast dedication to collective defense as stated in Article 5 of the NATO treaty. This crucial principle unequivocally declares that an act of armed aggression towards one member will be regarded as an offense towards all members.

Dr. Hosa delves into contrasting viewpoints within NATO and underlines the alliance's capacity for adaptation amidst divergent opinions held by member states - particularly when it comes to supporting Ukraine with enhanced military measures according to Eastern European viewpoints. Nevertheless, Dr. Hosa places emphasis on NATO's noteworthy assistance provided towards Ukraine and its effective actions taken for protecting other vulnerable European countries like Finland from potential threats originating from Russia. The expedient admission of Finland into NATO highlights an active engagement that signifies the growing significance of the organization in tackling urgent security concerns (Joanna Hosa interview, June 2023).

Conclusively, there is no denying that the Russo-Ukrainian War has far-reaching consequences for NATO's stance on collective defense in Europe, transcending its impact on just the Baltic region. By exploring these divergent viewpoints, it becomes evident that NATO's reaction to this war showcases its resolute commitment to strengthening deterrence measures while ensuring the well-being of its member states

40

across Europe. In essence, prompted by events such as this war NATO has taken proactive steps forward by adeptly navigating intricate decision-making processes and acknowledging the geopolitical dynamics at play. These invaluable insights speak volumes about NATO's unwavering dedication to collective defense and underscore the ongoing challenges and responsibilities it encounters while safeguarding security and stability throughout Europe.

#### **4.3 Threats to Regional Stability**

One cannot ignore how profoundly Europe's pursuit of security has been influenced by the Russo-Ukrainian War, which carries considerable risks for regional stability. The conflict itself has disturbed existing power dynamics and escalated tensions among various actors in this region. Given these challenges, it is no surprise that the European Councils European security strategy (2022) calls for a comprehensive approach that acknowledges and effectively tackles these threats. Cooperation, deterrence, and crisis management emerge as crucial elements to preserve regional stability. The 2021 "NATO 2030: United for a New Era" report acknowledges that the security landscape is constantly changing and recognizes the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian War. NATO needs to place great importance on adapting its deterrence and defense approach in order to effectively address the evolving security challenges. This entails countering tactics employed in hybrid warfare, cyber threats, and disinformation campaigns - all of which pose a threat to regional stability.

Monaghan (2023) states that challenges within European defense cooperation carry significant implications for maintaining regional stability. Carnegie Endowment

41

for International Peace (2014) supports that statement by providing an analysis showcasing how the war could potentially reverberate globally - this crisis might drastically impact regional security dynamics while simultaneously influencing international relations. Considering this war, Germany has decided to take charge by first, proactively initiating substantial changes to strengthen coordination among member states of the European Union, and second, by revitalizing its own defense mechanisms. Dempsey (2023) explains that Germany – and because of several factors such as energy dependency, and geopolitical considerations, among others - now perceives Eastern European countries as being susceptible to Russian influence which has consequently led it to enhance its cooperation with Baltic States, Czech Republic, and Poland. Another measure undertaken by Germany includes a comprehensive overhaul of its defense mechanism. With Germany's responsive stance portraying a potential shift in approach, it bears significant implications for future European security dynamics.

Expert Ms. Susi Dennison supports the above and sheds light on how the Russo-Ukrainian war's security challenges have deeply affected the Baltic region. It has become increasingly apparent that these nations no longer perceive putting their faith in Russia regarding European security matters as wise or warranted. As a result of this newly acquired perspective, there has been a considerable reconfiguration of power dynamics within the European Union itself - countries like Poland now wield more influence when it comes to leading meaningful dialogues about Russian affairs based on EU terms. Leadership figures from Estonia and Lithuania professionals throughout, are raising their voices demanding stricter measures such as visa restrictions and sanctions implementation.

Maintaining regional stability is of utmost importance in the aftermath of the war. To achieve this, it is crucial to establish a new European security order. The Peace Diplomacy Initiatives (2023) highlight the intricacies that are involved in this process; it explores the role that regional actors play, the potential for multilateral cooperation, and the significance of dialogue in shaping Europe's future security architecture. The existing conflict has posed a substantial challenge to maintaining a stable balance of power while simultaneously exacerbating tensions among various regional entities. Furthermore, it has exposed weaknesses within defense structures alongside deterrence mechanisms that can no longer be overlooked or undermined. The emergence of hybrid warfare techniques coincided with an increase in cyber threats as well as disinformation campaigns – presenting a set of crucial obstacles that demand a unified front equipped with adaptable solutions. Consequently, there is an undeniable necessity for elevated levels of cooperation along with coordination between both the European Union and NATO to adequately address these shifting security challenges. By strengthening defense capacities whilst devising comprehensive strategies, fostering multilateral collaboration becomes paramount when attempting to mitigate threats consequent upon ongoing conflicts.

The current developments witnessed within Europe mark an entirely new chapter that calls for unwavering commitment and pragmatic policies moving forward. The possibility of implementing hard power strategies should not be disregarded as they hold the potential in shaping what lies ahead. In light of post-war circumstances, establishing a fresh European security order becomes paramount in ensuring longlasting regional stability.

## **Conclusion:**

The findings offer valuable insights into a complex geopolitical landscape highlighting challenges to collective defense mechanisms and threats to regional stability. One noteworthy observation pertains to increased defense spending and modernization efforts in the Baltic region due to the ongoing conflict. The proactive responses demonstrate recognition among Baltic countries of their need to bolster defense capabilities while fostering regional cooperation. Such developments not only enhance their own security but also contribute significantly to rebalancing power dynamics within this region, underscoring collective defense as a paramount aspect of NATO.

Furthermore, amid the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian conflict, NATO faces considerable challenges regarding its commitment to collective defense across Europe. While demonstrating adaptability in addressing evolving security threats, striking an equilibrium between maintaining credible deterrence and avoiding unintended escalation remains risky. This underscores the utmost importance of cohesive decisionmaking and coordination among member states so as not only to effectively manage conflict implications but also to uphold principles of collective defense.

It is imperative to also acknowledge that the conflict has brought about significant risks to regional stability. These risks encompass not only political and economic aspects but also social dimensions. The advancement of hybrid warfare tactics, cyber threats, and disinformation campaigns inevitably present daunting challenges that undermine the stability of Europe. As a result, it becomes evident that comprehensive strategies, increased collaboration, and strengthened defense capabilities are crucial in effectively countering these multifaceted threats. Consequently, adopting a multilateral approach that promotes dialogue, fosters trust, and encourages cooperative security measures among regional actors and international organizations becomes indispensable in ensuring long-term stability.

In summary, based on the empirical analysis, valuable insights emerge regarding the extensive implications of the Russo-Ukrainian War for Europe's security dynamics. The noted increase in defense efforts and modernization in the Baltic region serves as evidence of proactively addressing potential threats. NATO deserves commendation for its capacity to adapt to evolving security challenges; however, finding an equilibrium between deterrence and averting unintended escalation remains vital. Addressing diverse threats to regional stability requires comprehensive strategies, increased cooperation, as well as reinforced defense capabilities. Ultimately, shaping a secure and stable future for Europe heavily relies on adopting a multilateral approach that fosters dialogue and cooperation among regional actors and international organizations.

# CHAPTER 5 – STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS FOR ENERGY SECURITY

Europe's safety framework has witnessed far-reaching changes due to the Russo-Ukrainian War. Various regional players have experienced notable shifts in their relationships along with alterations in power balances while facing fresh threats to their stability. Energy security remains one of the key aspects profoundly affected by these developments. In this empirical chapter, we aim to explore the strategic implications of the war on energy security in Europe. More specifically, we will examine the impact of Europe's reliance on the Russian natural gas supply, European efforts to decrease such dependence, and the intricate connection between energy security and geopolitical risks.

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine has highlighted the significance of energy as a means of geopolitical influence. Throughout history, the Russian government has utilized its extensive reserves of natural gas to exert power gain control over European energy markets, and further its political interests (Ghaleb, 2011). However, the ongoing war in Ukraine has disrupted this established energy order necessitating a reevaluation of the region's energy security landscape. In their comprehensive study on navigating energy transitions, Picciariello et al. (2022) delve into the geopolitical aspects of energy transitions, with a particular focus on the intersection between the war in Ukraine and the dynamics of energy geopolitics. Ozawa (2022) adds to this discourse by examining how the Russia-Ukraine war has impacted the European energy crisis shedding light on the complexities surrounding this crucial issue. The initial part of this chapter delves into Russia's' supply of natural gas to Europe. It discusses how European countries have historically relied on Russian gas and identifies vulnerabilities that accompany such reliance. By analyzing consequences resulting from conflicts like Russo Ukrainian War, we assess how these conflicts affect gas supplies' security within Europe along with stability within regional markets' energies.

The second part focuses on European attempts towards reducing dependency on Russian energy. This includes an evaluation of the strategies that both European countries, as well as the European Union, have adopted to increase diversification within their energy sources. Additionally, we consider how these entities work towards promoting energy efficiency and encouraging the development of alternative energy technologies. We explore to what extent these efforts have been either accelerated or reshaped due to the conflict in Ukraine and corresponding concerns over energy security.

Lastly, we conduct research on the critical connection between energy security and geopolitical risk within our third section. Specifically, we analyze how conflicts like Russo Ukrainian War escalate geopolitical tensions within regions while simultaneously affecting international relations at large. Through this analysis, we gain insights into potential risks and challenges that emerge from changes in Europe's energy landscape by examining the interplay between security over energies and geopolitical dynamics. This chapter seeks to contribute empirical evidence shedding light on how events like Russo Ukrainian War impact the reshaping of Europe's energy dynamics.

The aim of this thesis is not only to investigate strategic implications for achieving secure energy but also to better comprehend the future trajectory surrounding European architecture for enhancing its overall security over energy. It also aims to identify broader implications related to international relations stemming from these considerations.

## 5.1 Russian Natural Gas Supply to Europe

The historical reliance of European countries on Russian natural gas has led to vulnerabilities and risks in the energy security of the region. The Russo-Ukrainian War has highlighted the importance of diversifying energy sources, thus achieving supply independence and improving resilience (European Parliament, 2020). Examining the approaches taken by European countries and the European Union to diversify energy sources, encourage energy efficiency, and advance alternative energy technologies, offer valuable perspectives on addressing the Ukraine conflict and its impact on energy security.

The conflict in Ukraine has prompted Europe to intensify its efforts to diversify its energy sources as it seeks to decrease its dependence on Russian gas (Rutland, 2021). The disruptions in gas transit routes that occurred during the war have emphasized the need to find alternative supply sources and transit routes. As a result, there has been an increased focus on developing and utilizing renewable energy sources as viable options to reduce reliance on fossil fuels and improve energy diversity (Rutland, 2021).

Moreover, the conflict has drawn attention to the importance of investing in modern infrastructure and interconnections to guarantee unbroken energy supplies (European Parliament, 2020). European nations have acknowledged the dangers linked to dependence on politically sensitive transit routes and have endeavored to establish substitute pipelines and storage facilities. These advancements in infrastructure not only bolster supply security but also enhance the overall durability of the energy system, minimizing risks associated with particular supply routes and geopolitical uncertainties.

The Russo-Ukrainian War has ignited significant debates concerning the importance of energy efficiency in reducing overall energy demand and decreasing reliance on foreign suppliers (European Parliament, 2020). European countries have willingly accepted the challenge of implementing energy-saving measures, as well as adopting technological innovations to enhance efficiency across various sectors. This proactive approach not only contributes effectively towards achieving greater levels of energy security but also aligns with broader sustainability objectives which facilitate Europe's transition towards low carbon sources as well as building resilience for a strong future. The strategies put forth by individual nations within Europe alongside those devised collectively by the European Union in response to the Russo-Ukrainian War, signify that this conflict has played a crucial role in shaping Europe's policy on addressing issues pertaining to energy security. These comprehensive analyses have highlighted the considerable significance associated with addressing vulnerabilities related to diversifying sources of energy along with investment in resilient infrastructure as key factors contributing towards successful management of geopolitical risks whilst prioritizing the protection of regional energy security.

All things considered; it can be said that the Russo-Ukrainian War has indeed served as an eye opener for Europe at large – provoking effective reevaluation for reestablishing strategies informed by real insights gained from this ongoing conflict. It is now imperative that European nations and members working collectively across EU

49

platforms prioritize efforts aimed towards diversification while achieving locally sourced supplies of vital resources alongside enhancing resilience at multiple levels in order to prevent any undue vulnerabilities or disruptions, thereby securing a stable energy supply for Europe while consolidating its position amidst an ever-volatile geopolitical environment. By drawing on insights and lessons acquired from this conflict, European countries today have the unique opportunity to lay the foundation necessary for a more secure, sustainable, and resilient future within the realm of energy across the entire continent.

## 5.2 European Efforts to Reduce Dependence on Russian Energy

Efforts aimed at diminishing reliance on Russian energy have emerged as a key priority for European countries as well as the European Union. This shift has been primarily instigated by the conflict in Ukraine alongside mounting concerns pertaining to energy security. The pursuit of various strategies targeting greater diversity of energy resources, enhanced efficiency measures, and advancements within alternative modes of energy production have taken precedence within this endeavor. Of particular importance among these approaches is the promotion of broader diversity across sources of energy. This emphasis is clearly underscored by an illuminating report issued by the European Commission which highlights the urgency surrounding source and supplier diversification in order to fortify resilience while mitigating vulnerability (European Commission, 2022). As such, an exhaustive drive has ensued entailing amplified investment towards expanding liquefied natural gas (LNG) infrastructure along with the nurturing of regional alliances thereby enabling imports from beyond Russian sources (European Parliament, 2023). Ultimately, it is the objective of these initiatives to effectively curb risks associated with geopolitical tensions while correspondingly reducing dependency on Russian gas.

An essential aspect of European strategies designed to decrease dependency on Russian energy involves prioritizing energy efficiency. To achieve this goal effectively, European states are taking various steps such as optimizing overall electricity consumption through practical measures applied within buildings; encouraging widespread use of advanced technologies that conserve power; introducing performance standards that enhance effectiveness (European Parliament, 2020). These endeavors reflect not only an objective aimed at reducing foreign reliance but also align harmoniously with wider sustainability goals as well as comprehensive initiatives focused on tackling climate change.

Notably, within the European Union context is an evident acceleration with regard to alternative energy technology advancements - notably including renewables like wind-generated energy or the harnessing of solar power and hydropower (Federal Government of Germany, 2019; Heiman, 2022). Of particular interest is Germany's substantial progress in expanding renewable energy capacity - distinctively focused on wind and solar power generation. This transition away from conventional fuel sources and imported energy resources like Russian gas assumes a pivotal role in diminishing foreign reliance levels. Furthermore, the European Union's unwavering dedication to promoting renewable forms of energy as well as initiatives to reduce carbon emissions reinforces efforts aimed at advancing diversification and achieving self-sufficiency (European Commission, 2022).

European efforts to decrease reliance on Russian energy extend beyond infrastructure development and policy initiatives. Promoting strong cooperation, enhancing energy security, advocating for energy efficiency, and expanding renewable energy sources are highlighted in collaborative dialogues, such as the EU Moldova Energy Dialogue (European Commission, 2023). The expert Ms. Dennison further supports this by emphasizing Europe's intensified discussions and partnerships with third countries<sup>6</sup> in the energy sector. These initiatives demonstrate the deep commitment of European countries to broaden their energy sources and diminish their susceptibility to geopolitical risks. Notably, nations like Poland actively prioritize a sustainable and resilient energy system through the diversification of their energy sources and the adoption of renewable forms (European Commission, 2023).

In response to ongoing tensions in Ukraine, Europe has responded proactively by taking strides towards establishing more reliable partnerships for its energy needs while reducing dependence on Russian sources. Notably, this involves prioritizing energy sources from Norway and the United States as well as placing significant emphasis on renewable energy and hydrogen technology. These efforts serve the purpose of reducing reliance on fossil fuels and bolstering overall energy security (Joanna Hosa interview, June 2023). Importantly, such steps not only reflect Europe's steadfast determination to achieve complete independence from Russian influence but also work towards weakening Russia's hold over the region. As a result, these measures represent a meaningful and advantageous advancement in safeguarding Europe's energy security. It is worth noting President Putin's significant declaration made during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> According to Regulation (EU) 2016/399 (Schengen Borders Code), a "Third Country" is a nation that is not a member of the European Union (EU) and whose inhabitants do not have the freedom of movement rights outlined in Art. 2(5).

Referring to "third countries" is appropriate in this context because it refers to countries outside the EU that can professionally lend themselves as reliable strategic partners, facilitating mutually beneficial collaborations that positively affect both cooperative energy initiatives and supply lines. Targeted nations provide viable domestic resources or alternatively, effective technological methods linked to clean energy fields that reflect remarkable worldwide advancements.

his participation in the Eastern Economic Forum amidst the conflict in Ukraine. This declaration calls attention to the urgent need to acknowledge and address geopolitical risks and vulnerabilities associated with Europe's reliance on Russian sources for its energy supplies. Of particular concern is President Putin's affirmation that Russia intends to discontinue providing energy resources to Europe. Highlighting potential impediments and hardships, European nations may face in ensuring a reliable supply of energy (Office of the President of the Russian Federation 2022). In response, European countries are expediting their actions to decrease their reliance on Russian energy while simultaneously enhancing their ability to withstand unforeseen challenges.

In summary, it is evident that the Ukrainian conflict has wielded substantial influence over European attempts at reducing dependence on Russian fuel resources. Energy diversification remains at the forefront as one of the pivotal strategies for achieving enhanced self-sufficiency in this context; additionally encompassing increased focus on efficiency improvements alongside advancements within alternative power generation technologies. Through embracing various measures like diversifying fuel sources or promoting efficient consumption habits while investing significantly in renewables; European nations are consciously working towards bolstering their overall resilience against geopolitical vulnerabilities whilst securing their own individual nationalities' interests within this field. The conflict, having acted as a catalytic stimulant, has propelled these efforts forward by highlighting the imperative need in constructing a stronger, more versatile energy landscape within Europe. It will contribute to mitigating risks while resiliently forging ahead into the continent's sustainable energy future.

### 5.3 Energy Security and Geopolitical Risk

The Russo-Ukrainian War has had profound impacts on the security dynamics in Europe, specifically pertaining to energy security and the emergence of new geopolitical risks. This conflict has not only triggered a reassessment of European Russian relations, but it has also resulted in a noticeable shift in power towards the Western countries. Consequently, Western nations have intensified their assistance to Ukraine and forged stronger solidarity among themselves. Nonetheless, this conflict has also given rise to concerns regarding energy security in the region highlighting Europe's susceptibility to geopolitical risks and emphasizing the pressing need for diversification and resilience in its energy supply. This statement has been backed up by Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung (2023), who believes a strategic approach to energy in Europe is a priority to reduce dependence on external resources and increase the production of domestic energy.

The Strategic Compass for Security and Defence<sup>7</sup> (2022) developed by the Council of the European Union, has emerged as an essential framework that tackles these challenges with great significance. This strategic roadmap outlines an allencompassing action plan that intends to enhance both safety and defense capabilities within the EU by 2030. Notably, it signifies a pivotal moment for the EU expressly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The main objective of implementing the Strategic Compass is to bolster Europe as a provider of security by enhancing its capabilities. It is essential for the European Union (EU) to have sufficient resources in place in order to safeguard its citizens' well-being as well as contribute towards global peace and stability. By focusing on strengthening Europe's strategic autonomy. This strategic plan aims to enable effective collaboration with international partners who share similar values and interests. Moreover, an EU that has enhanced proficiency in matters of security ultimately benefits global security frameworks while concurrently acting as a complementary force alongside NATO—whose role in collective defense among member states cannot be understated. Furthermore, this effort serves to further elevate support extended towards maintaining a rules-based international system that primarily acknowledges United Nations' framework. The Strategic Compass effectively provides a comprehensive outlook on various factors such as threats faced by Europe along with challenges encountered within this context. Its concrete proposals equipped with an actionable timeline ensure effective crisis management capabilities by the EU—crucial to asserting its security and ensuring citizens' safety.

acknowledging its role as a responsible provider of security amidst evolving circumstances regarding Europe's security landscape. Additionally, this framework underscores an urgent need to safeguard against emerging threats. Furthermore, through its comprehensive approach, known as The Strategic Compass, offers a proactive methodology that effectively addresses energy-related security challenges while adeptly navigating geopolitical risks.

President von der Leyen's State of the Union speech strongly emphasizes the significance of collective action, resilience, and innovation in tackling security challenges. The speech acknowledges the vulnerabilities that arise from Europe's reliance on singular energy sources or suppliers and stresses the utmost urgency of achieving energy diversification and resilience. Furthermore, the significance of technology and innovation in bolstering Europe's ability to protect its energy infrastructure is emphasized by the proposed European High-Performance Computing Joint Undertaking<sup>8</sup>.

Ms. Dennison summarizes it and states that despite attempts already made to ensure that energy supply chains are more geographically diverse, warning signs regarding overreliance on particular nations have arisen prominently. In order to safeguard energy security effectively, it is paramount to forge deeper relationships with those supportive of geographical diversification. Additionally, investment must be prioritized not only to facilitate the transition towards cleaner energy sources but also toward meeting ambitious climate targets set forth accordingly. With a clear focal point

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The European High-Performance Computing Joint Undertaking is a collaborative effort between the European Union, European countries, and private partners. Its objective is to establish a first-rate Supercomputing Ecosystem in Europe with the goal of enhancing the well-being of European citizens by advancing scientific research promoting industrial competitiveness and safeguarding Europe's technological independence. This entity was legally established in 2018 and is based in Luxembourg by consolidating the resources of the European Union, 32 European countries, and three private partners. This initiative aspires to position Europe at the forefront of supercomputing technology.

on diverting dependence away from Russia and encouraging cleaner power generation efforts, the Repower EU strategy outlines a pathway towards such outcomes. Nevertheless, procuring necessary investments along with adequate infrastructure development remains indispensable given the significant lead in periods inherent in such complex endeavors. Striking an optimal equilibrium between shouldering decarbonization burdens among European governments while ensuring responsibility sharing, shall undoubtedly be one of the foremost challenges faced in forthcoming years.

The conflict in the region has undoubtedly had a detrimental effect on energy security giving rise to new geopolitical risks. This emphasizes the urgent requirement for a comprehensive and forward-looking strategy.

### **Conclusion:**

The analysis showcased in this current chapter provides us with valuable insights that contribute significantly to our deeper understanding regarding just how greatly Europe's energy security gets influenced by the ongoing war. The conflict itself brings into focus certain vulnerabilities that stem from Europe's heavy reliance on Russian natural gas supplies, thus prompting an extensive reevaluation of the overall landscape related to energy security across this specific region. A crucially important conclusion is understanding and acknowledging those innate risks that arise when relying too heavily upon Russian gas resources. Correspondingly, both European nations individually as well as collectively through their union, have taken substantial steps aiming at diversifying their own respective sources of energy as a way to reduce Russia's control over them. Moreover, this very same war highlights how closely interconnected geopolitics are with energy security principles thereby giving rise to a legitimate reassessment regarding how Europe engages with Russia which consequently tends to shift power dynamics favorably towards Western nations instead. Such recognition of these geopolitical realities underscores clearly why it becomes absolutely vital for all relevant stakeholders to adopt and pursue comprehensive strategic approaches that are energized with forward-looking visions, as these approaches do effectively navigate through potential geopolitical risks, whereas, at the same time, ensuring an enduring energy security ambitiously. European nations and the EU recognize that addressing these risks proactively is pivotal for ensuring an energy future that is secure and sustainable. The analysis also highlights multifaceted strategies implemented to enhance energy security, while effectively managing geopolitical risks. European countries, as well as the EU, have placed considerable emphasis on diversifying their energy sources, promoting energy efficiency, and developing alternative energy technologies. Through these strategies towards reducing vulnerabilities, increasing resilience, and decreasing reliance on external suppliers, Europe striving for these goals not only improves its own energy security but also promotes regional stability while reinforcing its position in international relations.

# **CHAPTER 6 – ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF THE WAR**

The Russo-Ukrainian war has also stained various aspects of Europe's economic landscape. This section of empirical research aims to investigate the economic effects of the war with a particular focus on three important areas: the sanctions imposed on Russia, the economic repercussions for Ukraine and the wider impacts on other European nations. By examining these aspects, we can develop a thorough comprehension of how the conflict has affected the economic dynamics within this region.

The employment of sanctions against Russia by Western nations as a response to its annexation of Crimea and support for separatist movements in Eastern Ukraine, has been an impactful tool employed as part of the global community's answer to this particular conflict. In focusing their efforts on hampering key sectors within Russia's economy -namely finance, energy, and defense- these sanctions were implemented with aims rooted in pressuring Moscow while also causing shifts within their behavior patterns. This chapter aims at examining whether these sanctions have indeed been effective while assessing any wider-reaching ramifications undergone thus far.

In parallel, it is also key when addressing overall placement within our analysis to understand the fiscal implications facing Ukraine as the primary arena of this conflict. The war has caused considerable disruptions across diverse sectors, as seen in agriculture, manufacturing, and overall infrastructure. In understanding Ukraine's specific economic challenges, as well as studying the strategies implicated by Ukraine's government along with intergovernmental actors on a global scale to curtail these somewhat inevitable setbacks, we can start to gain a more comprehensive understanding surrounding the ongoing crisis at hand while comprehending how it has directly influenced not only present stability but also future prospects for development as a whole.

Apart from its immediate effects in Ukraine, the Russo-Ukrainian War has also entailed consequences for numerous other European countries. The conflict's disruptions have had an impact on trade flows, energy security, and investment patterns thus influencing neighboring states' economic interests and strategies within the wider European region as well. To gain insight into the extent to which this conflict has permeated beyond Ukraine's borders and evaluate its implications for regional economic integration, stability, and cooperation, it is essential to assess its economic repercussions on other European countries.

By delving deeper into these specific dimensions of economic impacts throughout Europe, this chapter seeks to enhance our understanding of the complex economic consequences resulting from this war, while also highlighting their broader significance for the region's overall economic stability and international relationships.

## 6.1 Sanctions on Russia

In response to Russia's activities in Ukraine, Western nations imposed extensive sanctions on it which resulted in significant effects on the country's economy (EU, 2014; U.S. Department of the Treasury, n.d.). Following his one-on-one meeting with Ukraine's Prime Minister Yatsenyuk, President Obama highlighted the global response against aggressive acts by Russians while emphasizing the importance of holding them accountable for their deeds (White House, 2014). Such responses reflect worldwide conviction considering enforced penalties as a vital mechanism aimed at effective

response toward Russian activities related to Ukraine while exerting consequential pressure for observed behavior change. Specific sanctions implicated profound implications for Russia's economy including its foreign policies. Acknowledging the economic repercussions of these penalties, President von der Leyen emphasized unity amongst European Union member states in terms of implementing and sustaining the imposed sanctions while addressing Russia's activities (European Commission, 2022). All these speeches clearly exhibit the ongoing determination towards ensuring sanction effectiveness and demonstrating their role in bringing about changes in behavior displayed by Russians.

The implementation of sanctions has had notable repercussions in vital sectors of Russia's economy. The measures targeting the financial sector have presented obstacles for Russian banks by imposing limitations on their access to international capital markets. Consequently, this disruption has compromised banking stability and impeded foreign investment (EU 2014; U.S. Department of the Treasury n.d.). Similarly impactful are the sanctions directed at the energy sector which have significantly affected Russia's energy production and export capacities. Furthermore, these sanctions have also placed constraints on the defense industry by hindering aspects such as production capabilities, modernization efforts, and military capacities harming ultimately its projection capacity. Consequently, curbing an important way for Russia's capability for projecting military power (EU 2014 U.S Department of State). The extent to which these sanctions have been successful in achieving their desired outcomes and exerting influence over Russian conduct continues to be a topic of debate. Despite encountering economic pressures stemming from these measures, Russia has displayed resourcefulness by devising alternative tactics to minimize their impact (Tsygankov, 2017). To this end, President von der Leyen emphasized that upholding and fortifying unity among European Union member states are essential for ensuring efficacy in sanction implementation and effectively dealing with Russia's actions (European Commission, 2022).

To add to that, the sanctions have led to diplomatic tensions between Russia and Western nations moving Russia to pursue alternative partnerships with non-Western countries (Tsygankov, 2017). Secretary Blinken mentions that Russia's pivot towards China and other non-Western nations is a direct response to the sanctions (U.S. Department of State. 2022), drastically affecting the regional and global power dynamics, as well as the unity and cohesion of Western alliances. Expert Ms. Dennison backs this and states that the evolving political and economic dynamics between Russia and European nations have prompted a dual approach by the Russian government. She further explains that, initially, efforts were made to alleviate the impact of sanctions and continue with business operations as usual. However, as the sanctions persisted, Russia adopted a strategic workaround to navigate these restrictions. Moreover, Russia actively sought engagement in multilateral forums and aimed to forge relationships with middle powers. Thereby challenging the prevailing European and American interpretations of the conflict in Ukraine. While it may be argued that the overall effectiveness of Russia's approach is somewhat limited, it has undeniably shaped the narrative surrounding issues such as disruptions in the food supply chain.

In summary, an examination of empirical evidence along with key leader speeches reveals that placing sanctions on Russia has yielded substantial economic consequences while also influencing their foreign policy decision-making processes. Moreover, it has exacerbated diplomatic tensions between nations. Nonetheless, there exists considerable deliberation regarding whether these imposed measures will ultimately succeed in modifying Russian behavior over an extended period of time. It is important to acknowledge that Russia's ability to withstand such pressures along with its active pursuit of alternative partnerships, necessitates ongoing scrutiny aimed at evaluating how exactly these sanctions continue shaping both Russian actions domestically, as well as their relationships with other regional actors extending beyond immediate borders.

### 6.2 Economic Consequences for Ukraine

One cannot overlook the implications that the war in Ukraine has had on major economic sectors like agriculture, manufacturing, and infrastructure. Out of all these sectors though, it is agriculture that seems to be bearing the effect of this situation most heavily. The destruction of farmland along with livestock losses and damage to critical infrastructure have significantly lowered productivity levels and output (RAND Corporation 2023). For farmers in this region today, obtaining vital resources including seeds for sowing crops or machinery proves rather challenging due to this ongoing conflict. As an outcome, maintaining regular production schedules becomes problematic leading unfortunately oftentimes to falling short when trying to meet market demands (European Bank for Reconstruction & Development/European Bank for Reconstruction & Development [EBRD], 2022). Furthermore, additional obstacles arise during transportation linked specifically to product deliveries both domestically and internationally due primarily because transportation networks like roads, etc. prove disrupted and unsafe (RAND Corporation, 2023). Another complication to the situation is added by trade restrictions imposed on Ukraine currently paired with significant market uncertainties. All these compounded elements begin adversely affecting profitability levels and foreign exchange earnings once received from the exportation of agricultural produces (EBRD 2022).

In addition to its impact on the agriculture sector, Russia's invasion of Ukraine has also challenged the manufacturing sector. According to a study conducted by the RAND Corporation in 2023, the ongoing destruction of industrial infrastructure has had a significant impact on factories and plants. As a result, these entities have been forced to halt their production leading to limitations in their production capacity and output. This development has had severe consequences for the manufacturing sector as highlighted by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) in 2022. Supply chains have been disrupted due to the limited availability of raw materials and intermediate goods. Moreover, companies are facing challenges in securing new financing opportunities and attracting foreign investment. As a result, their ability to continue operating is at stake, let alone expanding their operations - the International Monetary Fund (IMF) also noted these concerns in 2022 (IMF, 2022).

The repercussions of the conflict have significantly extended to the transportation sector as well. The widespread devastation of different forms of Ukraine's infrastructure has induced substantial complications in transportation both within the country and across its borders. This, in turn, has led to a surge in transportation costs, induced delays in delivery, increased costs related to energy, and limited the availability of energy supplies (IMF, 2022). To respond effectively to these complications, Ukraine has undertaken a proactive approach by enacting several economic reforms and working towards diversifying its marketplace (IMF, 2022).

The European Union has extended financial assistance and several aid programs to assist Ukraine in addressing the economic fallout resulting from the war and promote

63

sustainable long-term development (European Commission, 2022). During her speech at the Plenary Session of the European Parliament on the State of the Union, President von der Leyen highlighted the importance of bolstering Ukraine's economic recovery efforts (European Commission, 2022). Furthermore, energy efficiency and sustainable development have been key priorities for EU engagement in Ukraine with a focus on enhancing energy security while reducing dependence on external energy sources (OECD, 2022). Simultaneously, active involvement by the United States has been witnessed in supporting Ukraine's economic stability, as reiterated by Secretary Blinken's reaffirmation of their commitment to assisting Ukraine in overcoming economic challenges posed by war (U.S. Department of State. 2022).

Through collaborative efforts involving the Ukrainian government, European Union, as well as the United States; mitigating economic consequences stemming from war alongside supporting long-term stability and development prospects for Ukraine are sought after. By addressing challenges faced specifically by sectors such as agriculture manufacturing infrastructure; paving the way for sustainable growth is possible despite perpetual geopolitical challenges encountered.

Consequently, Russo-Ukrainian war holds substantial far-reaching implications for the Ukrainian economy with disruptions witnessed across vital sectors encompassing agriculture, manufacturing, and infrastructure. With the destruction of agricultural resources and decline in manufacturing output while facing damage to transportation and energy infrastructure; significant obstacles are faced by Ukraine in terms of economic recovery and stability. Nevertheless, active efforts focused on domestic reforms combined with international support pave the way for effective mitigation of war-induced impacts while simultaneously establishing the foundation for long-term economic resilience. To ensure Ukraine's prosperous future, it is crucial to continue making efforts to address the challenges specific to each sector, enhance the business environment and attract investments. These endeavors play a vital role in fostering sustainable economic growth.

## 6.3 Consequences on Other European Countries

As viewed above, the war has significantly affected the two countries on an economic level. However, it has also had significant consequences for Europe as a region: suspension of trade flows, modifications to investment trends, limited access to energy (especially countries that are heavily reliant on Ukrainian gas transit), and investment uncertainty pushing away foreign investors (Council of the European Union. 2022; Reuters, 2022). As such, neighboring countries have had to adjust their economic strategies and implement new measures.

And so, to respond to the above-mentioned challenges, neighboring countries have implemented various measures to address the disruptions and improve regional economic integration and stability. The first example is Poland which, in order to decrease its reliance on Ukraine, has opted to broaden its scope and diversify its trade partners (Council of the European Union 2022; UK Government, 2022). Another example is the prioritization of regional economic ties. More efforts have been made regionally, such as the Visegrád Group<sup>9</sup>, to strengthen regional cooperation. In addition, Germany being a major trading partner of Ukraine, has also broadened its perspective

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Visegrad Group, also referred to as the "Visegrad Four" or "V4", highlights the collaborative endeavors of the nations situated in Central Europe to jointly address various areas of mutual concern within all European integration. It is noteworthy that Czechia, Hungary, Poland, and Slovakia have historically been integral components of a single civilization exemplifying shared cultural and intellectual values as well as interconnected roots in diverse traditions. These countries actively strive to safeguard and enhance these aspects moving forward.

by being involved in diplomatic efforts to address the challenges that arose and maintain regional stability. More initiatives have been introduced in the region, such as exploring alternative trade routes, in the hope of overcoming the current obstacles (European Central Bank, 2023; Reuters, 2022).

Neighboring countries view energy security as a significant concern. To reduce vulnerabilities arising from disrupted energy supplies due to reliance on Ukrainian gas transit routes, nations such as Hungary and Slovakia are committed to enhancing their energy diversification efforts and strengthening regional collaboration. Aware of their vulnerability during times of conflict-induced disruptions, they are investing in alternative energy sources as well as infrastructure projects for assured energy security - a prime example being the Eastring pipeline (Council of the European Union, 2022; Reuters, 2022) -The Eastring pipeline is a proposed gas pipeline that is planned to be constructed in Slovakia, Hungary, Romania, and Bulgaria to enhance the energy security of these countries, diversify their sources of natural gas and reduce their dependence.

Apart from addressing economic consequences that arose due to recent conflicts, steps taken towards fostering stability in terms of trade and the overall economy are noteworthy. Countries like Romania & Baltic states have broadened their trade partners, whilst also making improvements aimed at attracting investment thereby promoting regional economic integration. Moreover, they assiduously cooperate with fellow neighboring nations & mutually indulge in various initiatives fostering peace along with economic cooperation (European Council conclusions, 2023; European External Action Service, 2022).

Regional organizations, such as the European Union and NATO, have been instrumental in promoting collaboration among neighboring countries. By facilitating dialogue, coordinating efforts, and providing financial assistance to affected nations these institutions have played a crucial role in fostering collective action. Their support for conflict resolution initiatives, advocacy for economic cooperation, and promotion of regional stability through diplomatic channels and international institutions (European Council conclusions, 2023; Council of the European Union 2022) has been widely acknowledged. In particular, the European Union has actively engaged in offering financial aid and support for economic reforms to impacted countries.

To tackle the profound impact caused by the Russo-Ukrainian War on economies across Europe's neighboring states, there is an increasing need for them to adapt their economic strategies accordingly. Disrupted trade flows along with changes in investment patterns have compelled a reassessment of energy security concerns as well. In response to such challenges brought forth by this conflict-driven situation that persists today; it is evident that there exists a mutual commitment that prevails among these nations towards addressing them through diverse approaches, including seeking alternate trading partners, as well as emphasizing greater energy diversification, while simultaneously seeking closer collaboration within regional economies, all aimed at achieving better integration economically, thereby ensuring much-needed stability alongside resilience against ongoing economic vulnerabilities revealed by this armed conflict.

## **Conclusion:**

In sum, this chapter sheds light on the intricate economic dynamics in the region and explores how they are influenced by the Russo-Ukrainian War. While sanctions were implemented against Russia to apply economic pressure, they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes as well. Notably, these measures have driven Russia to establish alternative partnerships with non-Western nations, causing disruption within Western alliances and introducing new geopolitical forces at play. Thus, it underlines how interconnected economic measures are with their larger geopolitical ramifications.

The impacts of the conflict on Ukraine's economy cannot be overstated especially when it comes to industries vital to its growth such as agriculture, manufacturing, and infrastructure. At the center of these consequences lies within agriculture where productivity has been severely disrupted; farmland has been destroyed along with livestock destroyed. In addition to these hardships faced by farmers, is their limited access to resources due to trade restrictions compounded by a volatile market facing unusually high levels of uncertainty. Another industry that suffers still is manufacturing-a blow induced by the destruction of industrial structures coupled with disrupted supply chains leading to decreased production capacity and output levels. The after-effect is clear: diminished confidence in business investors looking abroad means fewer funds received thereof, further burdening an already suffering sector. Ukraine's very infrastructure has also witnessed severe challenges seen within both transportation and energy sectors themselves, causing a stop in goods delivery, an increase in transportation costs, and limited access to energy supplies.

Despite facing numerous challenges along the way, the Ukrainian government has shown determination in tackling them with support from international stakeholders.

68

As a result of these collective efforts, strategic measures have been successfully implemented to minimize the adverse effects caused by warfare while simultaneously promoting economic resilience. Notably prioritized were comprehensive economic reforms aimed at facilitating a favorable business environment by improving regulatory frameworks and attracting investments from various sources. Additionally, efforts were directed toward reducing reliance on specific markets through trade diversification strategies that can strengthen Ukraine's economy against external shocks. It is worth noting that essential contributions from entities like the European Union and the United States played a vital role in Ukraine's economic recovery process, as they not only extended financial assistance but also implemented aid programs alongside diplomatic endeavors.

As per the above review and analysis, the economic ramifications of the war extend beyond Ukraine alone; they also affect neighboring European countries. Disrupted trade flows, altered investment patterns, and deep concerns about energy security demand adaptive measures and regional cooperation to tackle them effectively. Neighboring countries have recognized this need and have pursued diversification of their trade partners as well as improvements in their business environments. Moreover, they have made strategic investments in alternative energy sources and infrastructure projects as part of their response strategies. Collaborative efforts through key regional organizations, like the European Union and NATO, play a crucial role by fostering dialogue among affected nations while coordinating actions for addressing these economic consequences. They further provide financial assistance when required, displaying their dedication to mitigating the impact of this conflict on economies and fostering stability through collective initiatives. Understanding the war's multiple economic effects will help us better understand its wider implications for regional economic stability, international relationships, and the long-term development possibilities of the countries involved. And so, in light of the ongoing geopolitical challenges, promoting economic recovery, strengthening interdependence and regional cooperation, and building resilience, remain the most important learnings to overcome the complex, multifaceted problems.

# **CHAPTER 7 – ROLE OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS**

The ramifications caused by the Russo-Ukrainian War span across not only regional lines but also heavily influenced matters concerning Europe's economy and security dynamics as a whole. Consequently, various international organizations have recognized this gravity and actively intervened to address this conflict with the aim to restore stability within that particular region. This section will delve deeper into how key global entities, such as The European Union (EU) and United Nations (UN), stepped up by employing diplomatic channels alongside implementing relevant sanctions. It becomes necessary to critically evaluate how effective these international responses were in addressing the ongoing crisis and to examine how they have played a role in redirecting the course of the war. By thoroughly analyzing the actions taken by these organizations, we can draw valuable insights into how international diplomacy, sanctions, and conflict resolution intertwine throughout this Russo-Ukrainian War.

In its endeavor to contribute towards resolving the war, the European Union has adopted multiple strategies involving diplomacy negotiation channels, economic sanctions enforcement mechanisms along with providing humanitarian assistance. As an institution entrusted with promoting peace and stability within its region of influence as well as beyond borders, the EU considered it essential to take center stage in these diplomatic initiatives. To further assert its influence over belligerent actors involved in this crisis, the implementation of economic sanctions remained crucial for which Russia was mainly targeted. This chapter serves as an examination into precisely how effective these resilient diplomacy efforts undertaken by EU officials proved themselves, alongside the sanctions' regime thereunto, and investigates the various inherent challenges encountered by reflecting on the extent to which they have had an impact on molding the overall trajectory of this war.

Throughout its involvement in response to Russo-Ukrainian War, multiple aspects of the United Nations' engagement have been evaluated within this chapter, as it aims to determine their effectiveness regarding de-escalation efforts along with nurturing peace negotiations. The analysis covers an examination of not only the role played by resolutions deriving from the UN Security Council but also studying effectiveness pertaining to deployments made for maintaining peace within affected regions through peacekeeping missions.

This chapter's ultimate objective is to provide a comprehensive analysis pertaining not just to the UN's involvement but also considering broader aspects, such as the international response encountered when addressing this ongoing conflict. Diplomatic efforts, economic sanctions, and humanitarian actions undertaken by the European Union and United Nations are evaluated in order to gain meaningful insights into the impact made by international responses within complicated regional conflicts.

#### 7.1 European Union Diplomacy and Sanctions

The involvement of the European Union in the Russo-Ukrainian War showcases a comprehensive approach encompassing diplomatic negotiations, economic sanctions, and the pursuit of peace agreements. EU's dedication is evident in its establishment of an EU delegation to Ukraine which aims to foster dialogue and support a peaceful resolution in Ukraine. High-level speeches delivered by notable EU officials, such as

Josep Borrell and Federica Mogherini, underscore EU's stance on the conflict highlighting territorial integrity, sovereignty, cooperation, and dialogue (Borrell, 2019; Mogherini, 2019).

An influential outcome in terms of diplomacy achieved through joint endeavors of the European Union and other international actors is the signing of the Minsk Agreement in 2014 and 2015 (United Nations, 2014; Council of the European Union, n.d.). The agreement aims at achieving lasting peace through a ceasefire and the peaceful resolution was greatly facilitated by the EU's mediation between Ukraine and Russia. Showcasing its diplomatic influence and regional prominence, the European Union played a pivotal role in ingathering both parties at the negotiation table while providing active support in implementing the agreement (European External Action Service, n.d.). By providing diplomatic aid and engaging in shuttle diplomacy, as well as offering financial and technical assistance to address humanitarian aspects and reconstruction needs in conflict-ridden areas (European External Action Service, n.d.), the EU presented effective support in resolving the conflict and fostering peace.

Simultaneously, the European Union (EU) has implemented economic sanctions on Russia with the aim of exerting pressure and discouraging further acts of aggression. While these sanctions have had some impact on Russia's economy, a debate persists regarding their effectiveness in instigating change in Russia's' behavior or facilitating conflict resolution.

Upon analyzing the EUs' approach, we identify both strengths and limitations. On one hand, the EU has demonstrated a commendable commitment to resolving the conflict through dialogue; however, the lack of tangible progress begs the question of whether overall effectiveness can be attained. The combination of sanctions and the

73

Minsk Agreement has indeed influenced the dynamics of the conflict. Yet, it remains uncertain whether these measures can genuinely accomplish their intended political objectives and establish enduring peace.

Bearing in mind all that has been mentioned earlier, it is absolutely vital for the EU to maintain a continuous assessment process whilst making adjustments to its approach towards diplomacy, sanctions, and execution of peace treaties. Exploring alternative methods for engagement - incorporating creative problem solving-, and effectively using available resources are essential aspects that need careful deliberation. By consolidating its efforts with other global organizations such as the United Nations, as well as working alongside regional entities involved in the matter, the EU has the potential to uncover new pathways that can truly lead to a comprehensive and sustainable resolution to this conflict.

#### 7.2 United Nations Involvement

Ever since getting involved in the war, there is no denying that the United Nations (UN) has played a critical role in efforts geared towards de-escalating tensions and facilitating successful peace negotiations. In this chapter, we evaluate just how effective their involvement has been in achieving these significant goals.

A noteworthy aspect of their active engagement lies in their support for the Minsk Agreement. Signed in 2014, this agreement aimed to establish a ceasefire and pave the way for resolving the conflict through peaceful means (United Nations, 2014). By working closely with various international entities, the UN has taken on responsibility for overseeing the implementation of this agreement and ensuring strict adherence to its provisions. The extent of their participation amply demonstrates their unwavering determination when it comes to upholding peacekeeping efforts and resolving conflicts.

To ensure compliance with the Minsk Agreement and maintain stability in areas directly impacted by conflict, it is crucial to acknowledge the role played by various United Nations initiatives. Peacekeeping missions have been deployed alongside monitoring mechanisms and observer missions to effectively monitor ceasefire arrangements. Additionally, these endeavors actively encourage dialogue among opposing factions while offering invaluable perspectives regarding situational dynamics (Filipchuk, 2016). Moreover, with UN peacekeepers and observers present in affected regions acting as both deterrence agents against potential hostility as well as mediators facilitating reconciliation talks; these individuals pave the way for trust-building measures essential to resolving conflicts.

The resolutions adopted by the UN Security Council carry great weight in providing direction for diplomatic efforts and negotiations. A significant emphasis is evident in Resolution 2202 (2015) on upholding Ukraine's sovereignty, territorial integrity, and political independence. The resolution strongly advocates for a holistic political settlement through dialogue while stressing prompt implementation of the Minsk Agreements (United Nations Security Council, 2015). By reiterating their commitment towards peaceful conflict resolution, this resolution epitomizes a unified perspective among global actors as it urgently demands an immediate ceasefire in order to establish stability within the region.

Nevertheless, numerous challenges and limitations continue to impede the United Nations' involvement in resolving this conflict effectively. Notably, one major

75

challenge stems from its complex nature– encompassing diverse dimensions ranging from political affiliations to territorial disputes as well as ethnic disparities. These complexities have rendered finding a sustainable and long-lasting solution exceptionally difficult–primarily due to varying interests and objectives held by each entity engaged in the conflict. Additionally, further complications arise due to geopolitical tensions intertwined with external actors. As a result, the UN faces difficulties impeding its very ability to facilitate constructive dialogue while forging consensus amidst conflicting parties (Feltman, 2023). Another notable constraint deserves attention as it pertains to both sides persistently violating ceasefire agreements throughout this conflict's unfolding progression over time. Despite the careful efforts exerted by UN officials, ensuring strict adherence to these regulations alongside diligent oversight of their implementation, occasional violations did occur. Understandably, this detrimental development amplifies existing tensions while simultaneously wearing down trust amongst all parties involved– thereby posing considerable hindrances towards attaining a viable resolution.

When looking into and analyzing the UN's involvement, it is also important to look into the particular composition of the council. A key lies in Russia's status as one of its permanent members. This position grants them significant sway over decisionmaking processes within the said council. Especially noteworthy is how their involvement in conflicts alongside their membership further complicates matters. Acting both as a party to the conflict and holding this influential role introduces a variety of challenges when seeking consensus on necessary actions. Notably, the veto power that Russia along with other permanent members possesses can pose an obstacle hindering the adoption of resolutions or the enforcement of stronger measures. To sum it up, the involvement and efforts of the UN in the ongoing war between Russia and Ukraine are evident. However, the current impact achieved is not sustainable as the UN faces several challenges that are hindering its ability to truly address the issues at hand.

### 7.3 Effectiveness of International Responses

Amidst the Russo-Ukrainian War, evaluating the efficacy of international responses assumes a pivotal role in this continuous conflict. Within the context of this chapter, a comprehensive analysis aims to go beyond conventional perspectives tied solely to the European Union (EU) and the United Nations (UN), by embracing a more expansive view of the international response.

Numerous nations have undertaken remarkable initiatives towards addressing this conflict thus underscoring its global significance. An exemplary illustration would be Canada's proactive support for Ukraine through diplomatic channels alongside substantial financial assistance (Government of Canada, n.d.). Equally significant is the United States multifaceted involvement that encompasses supplying military aid implementing sanctions on Russia and playing a decisive role in diplomatic negotiations (United States Department of State 2022). Additionally, Japan's contribution stems from its active engagement through diplomatic undertakings, as well as providing humanitarian aid (Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan 2022). Such examples serve as an indication of the irrefutable importance of international cooperation and bilateral commitments when dealing with such conflicts.

According to expert Susi Dennison, it is becoming more evident that the war in Ukraine is not just a regional issue but a matter of global significance. In light of these considerations, it is imperative to embrace a more comprehensive approach that surpasses Eurocentric viewpoints. Dennison emphasizes the importance of acknowledging this truth in order to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the worldwide security landscape and effectively address the conflict at hand. Moreover, she highlights the importance of formulating strategies that adapt to shifting global power dynamics and involve a wider array of stakeholders.

In effectively addressing the war, international organizations have played a vital role in maintaining respect and working towards resolutions that benefit all parties involved. One notable organization is the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) known for its considerable contributions through monitoring activities, negotiation facilitation, and promotion of dialogue (Arms Control Association, 2023). By fostering communication networks and building trust among conflicting parties, OSCE has significantly contributed to establishing connections necessary for peaceful conflict resolution. Furthermore, global financial institutions like the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank, have offered substantial support to Ukraine during these challenging times (IMF, 2022; World Bank, 2022). The IMFs' financial assistance seeks to stabilize Ukraine's economy while reinforcing fiscal stability for long-term recovery. In a similar vein, the World Bank focuses on addressing urgent humanitarian needs alongside funding programs aimed at supporting reconstruction efforts in areas affected by conflict. However, it is crucial to acknowledge that challenges and limitations have arisen in the international response to this war due to differing opinions, conflicting interests, and geopolitical considerations among nations (European Council of Foreign Relations, 2023; Government of Canada n.d.; United States Department of State, 2022; Susi Dennison interview, June 2023). Furthermore, the slow pace of decision-making combined with complexities in coordinating actions among multiple international actors impeded the timely implementation of effective measures. Moreover, due to the evolving nature of the conflict and its regional implications, continuous adaptation and adjustment of strategies posed further obstacles to an effective international response (World Bank 2022; Ministry of Foreign Affairs n.d.; Susi Dennison interview, June 2023).

In sum, a multitude of factors have influenced the effectiveness of international responses directed toward mitigating the Russo-Ukrainian War. The involvement of key countries, expert insights, and the role played by international organizations all offer valuable contributions in shaping these responses. Although noteworthy achievements have been witnessed through these collective efforts concerning support and assistance; obstacles stemming from divergent interests among nations, geopolitical considerations, coordination complexities as well as the urgent need for a more inclusive approach, hinder achieving a united and definitive response. Recognizing that this conflict carries worldwide consequences, calls for adopting comprehensive strategies that duly account for the evolving global power dynamics with a view to enhancing effectiveness in international responses and ultimately working towards an enduring resolution.

## **Conclusion:**

In conclusion, it can be said that European security dynamics have been significantly affected by the Russo-Ukrainian War which sparked considerable international responses aimed at resolving this conflict. The involvement of entities such as the European Union (EU), and United Nations (UN), along with various other countries, played an essential role in shaping these responses while seeking an ultimate solution to this crisis. Diplomatic efforts made in conjunction with economic sanctions imposed by these nations stand as evidence of their effectiveness in dealing with this issue appropriately while humanitarian assistance continued its way as well. The commitment displayed by the EU can be positively seen through diplomatic negotiations, the implementation of economic sanctions, and the establishment of the EU Delegation to Ukraine. Similarly, UN support for the Minsk Agreement and deployment of peacekeeping missions aiming to facilitate dialogue while monitoring ceasefires, have been consequential steps as well. However, despite their demonstrated efficacy, several challenges and limitations hindered these responses from achieving the desired results. Disagreements among nations regarding their approach to resolving this crisis, coupled with divergent interests and geopolitical considerations, have acted as obstacles often preventing a unified and decisive response. Additionally, slow decision-making processes, along with coordination complexities clashed with persistent ceasefire violations, leading to delays in implementing practical measures effectively. In order to enhance international responses' effectiveness in tackling such conflicts going forward, addressing these challenges becomes a critical aspect. In this regard, continuous evaluation combined with an adaptive outlook towards diplomatic strategies employed alongside economic sanctions policies, as well as peace agreements, would prove beneficial for achieving desired outcomes in resolution efforts. Moreover, it is vital to strengthen international cooperation and coordination among key stakeholders in order to establish an enduring solution. Finally, gaining comprehensive insight into this conflict, keeping perspectives beyond Eurocentrism in mind would provide more effective responses paving the way for a much more secure European security landscape.

# **CHAPTER 8 – CONCLUSION**

As we transition into the concluding chapter of this study, it becomes imperative to systematically review the key findings of our research. We have thoroughly analyzed the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian War on the security dynamics within Europe, revealing intricate nuances and pivotal insights. The conflict has undeniably instigated substantial shifts across various facets of European security. In this final chapter, we aim to consolidate these insights, draw meaningful conclusions, and propose practical recommendations grounded in the synthesized knowledge. The ensuing discussion aspires to provide constructive guidance for addressing the repercussions of this conflict and steer Europe towards enhanced security and resilience.

#### 8.1 Summary of Findings

The research findings provide a comprehensive answer to the research question, "How has the war between Russia and Ukraine affected the security landscape of Europe, including regional dynamics, the balance of power, and the security challenges that have recently unfolded?".

The analysis confirms the hypothesis that the Russo-Ukrainian War has significantly transformed Europe by altering the balance of power and prompting fresh conflicts between nearby countries. As a result, European security dynamics have been profoundly impacted - notably in the Baltic region. Neighboring countries have responded with heightened defense efforts and regional cooperation. This collective response indicates their acknowledgment of the need to strengthen defense capabilities and preserve a balanced power structure against evolving security threats.

Furthermore, the war has exposed vulnerabilities in Europe's energy security, emphasizing the urgency of diversifying energy sources and reducing reliance on Russian gas. European countries have actively pursued renewable energy sources, enhanced energy efficiency, and alternative technologies in order to reduce vulnerabilities, strengthen their energy security and shift away from Russian dominance.

Economically speaking, Ukraine has experienced extensive disruptions in vital industries such as agriculture, manufacturing, and infrastructure. The destruction of farmland, livestock, and industrial structures along with disrupted supply chains has severely hindered production capacities and output levels. Additionally impacted are neighboring European countries via disrupted trade flows and altered investment patterns.

Measures like strategic initiatives alongside economic reforms supported by international assistance have played a pivotal role in mitigating adverse effects while promoting economic resilience among affected nations.

NATO's response to this conflict has been instrumental in managing its security implications within Europe. The alliance has showcased adaptability when addressing evolving threat landscapes; however, achieving a careful balance between credible deterrence and unintended escalation remains challenging. It is crucial for NATO member states to make cohesive decisions while coordinating actions effectively to manage this conflict's implications while preserving collective defense principles.

82

International organizations, such as the European Union (EU) and United Nations (UN), have been actively involved in diplomatic efforts, implementing economic sanctions, and providing humanitarian assistance to address the conflict. Although these responses have shown efficacy, challenges, and limitations hinder their full effectiveness. Disagreements among nations, divergent interests, and coordination complexities pose obstacles to achieving a unified and decisive response.

In the final analysis, it is evident that research findings support the hypothesis that Europe underwent substantial transformations as a result of the Russo-Ukrainian War. These transformations were characterized by shifts in power equilibrium, instigation of fresh conflicts, and alterations in regional dynamics. The consequences stemming from this conflict have had wide-ranging implications across numerous aspects of European security. Thus, acquired knowledge offers an enhanced comprehension of these implications and can greatly inform future initiatives striving to maintain peace, stability, and resilience in the region.

## 8.2 Recommendations

The aftermath of the Russo-Ukrainian war is predicted to bring significant changes that will impact Europe's geopolitical landscape. One important issue that needs to be addressed is the lack of a cohesive dialogue regarding the future of the European Russian relationship, which hinders cooperation on global matters. However, there seems to be an increasing determination amongst countries in learning from past errors that will mold them into playing a more assertive role globally. Important lessons that have been learned include realizing how vital it is to respond promptly and firmly to any potential threat while also ensuring sovereignty, freedom, and economic strength are adequately protected.

In order to build a solid foundation for stability, Europe aims to lessen its dependence by boosting its own capacity, this includes dedicated resources to technology, adoption of eco-friendly technologies such as green technology, along with enhancing domestic production. Programs, such as establishing the European Political Community, on top of efforts that have been poured into the reinforcement of industries associated with aerospace, show Europe's commitment to expanding its sphere of influence gaining which will be pivotal during the process of enlargement as part of projecting the vision that Europe has for itself. Unfortunately, differences among European capitals and ensuring adherence to the fundamental principles of the European project may present obstacles during this process.

Taking into account the research findings presented above provide a basis for several recommendations that are worth considering. First, fostering cohesive dialogue between Europe and Russia emerges as crucially important as a strategy that effectively addresses shared concerns while also resolving conflicts thereby enhancing cooperation, with respect to global challenges impacting both regions significantly. Diplomatic efforts, augmented with confidence-building measures, coupled with track II diplomacy initiatives, emphatically contribute towards this outcome.

Also, of utmost importance lies in strengthening security responses throughout Europe, especially within the Baltic region. European countries must focus their efforts on enhancing defense cooperation thus ensuring readiness against evolving security challenges and gathering momentum effectively thereby providing collective defense and securely deploying necessary resources. A further significant recommendation necessitates improving energy independence not only for reinforcing self-sufficiency but also drastically curtailing dependencies. Europe should swiftly invest in transitioning to renewable energy sources while concurrently engaging in green technology research and development practices. Additionally, promoting energy efficiency measures enhances the overall objective. Once energy sources are effectively diversified and domestic resources sufficiently developed, thereby reducing reliance on Russian gas, Europe is ensured of timeless strong resilience.

Furthermore, one must render support to economic recovery efforts for Ukraine and adjacent nations that are severely impacted by the war. This includes providing financial aid, technical assistance, as well as trade diversification initiatives with a view to fostering economic resilience. It is also critical to encourage investment in key sectors like agriculture, manufacturing, and infrastructure. These investments will effectively drive economic growth thus benefitting all while simultaneously reducing vulnerabilities.

Boosting global collaboration is of paramount importance. This includes strengthening the alignment and synergy between global institutions, including the likes of the EU, UN, and OSCE, to encourage diplomatic endeavors, peace preservation operations, and effective punitive measures. Encouraging dialogue and mediation efforts across multiple nations will pave the way for peaceful conflict resolutions and ensure a stable regional climate.

Further, the emphasis on European solidarity is indispensable, reinforcing the dedication to the European unification process, preserving the core views of the European mission, and reconciling variances among European countries. The

development of inclusive decision-making mechanisms that engage all member countries should be pursued to ensure their dynamic involvement in sculpting European security strategies.

The necessity to invest in pivotal technologies for preserving European security and technical dominance, and to assign resources to innovation and refinement in key sectors such as artificial intelligence, cybersecurity, and space competencies, cannot be overstated.

The conclusions drawn from this thesis, combined with an acknowledgment of Europe's need for greater proactivity and self-reliance, will undoubtedly shape both European security architecture and international relations moving forward. Tackling the issue of limited dialogue with Russia, enhancing Europe's capabilities as well as consolidating its status as a major global participant, will all have significant contributions toward creating a more stable and secure European geopolitical landscape. By actively drawing lessons from historical events while embracing this proactive approach towards security matters engagingly, Europe possesses the immense potential to strengthen its own security dynamics while simultaneously playing pivotal roles in shaping future developments within international relations.

The conflict has generated significant impacts across diverse aspects, most notably on international law and norms that safeguard territorial integrity and the right to self-determination. The standpoint of Ukraine, reinforced by Western governments and private sector entities, underscores the paramount importance of these principles. Nonetheless, the intricate nature of the conflict and the ambiguous division of territorial boundaries between Russia and Ukraine pose substantial obstacles to the propagation of these principles. Consequently, a somewhat cynical perspective emerges, indicating

86

the prospect of a settlement or a persistently unresolved conflict, where the solution seems perpetually unattainable. This recognition underscores the elaborate task of aligning international laws and norms with the realities of such multifaceted disputes. It accentuates the necessity for unwavering efforts to grapple with the repercussions of international laws and norms, persistently seeking advancements despite these adversities. In the steps ahead, it is paramount to reinforce the principles of territorial sovereignty and the right to self-determination, while actively pursuing diplomatic dialogues and initiatives to steer towards a more secure and peaceful future for Europe.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Arms Control Association. (2023, January). OSCE in Crisis Over Russian War on Ukraine. Arms Control Today. Retrieved from <u>https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2023-01/news/osce-crisis-over-russian-war-ukraine</u>
- Bebler, A. (2015). Crimea and the Ukrainian-Russian conflict. In A. Bebler (Ed.), "Frozen conflicts" in Europe(1st ed., pp. 189–208). Verlag Barbara Budrich. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctvdf0bmg.22</u>
- Bebler, A. (2015). Introduction. In A. Bebler (Ed.), "*Frozenconf* (1st ed., tpp." *in Eu* 7–16). Verlag Barbara Budrich. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctvdf0bmg.3</u>
- Belkin, P. (2008). The European Union's Energy Security Challenges. Connections, 7(1), 76– 102. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/26323321</u>
- Bello, M. I., & Akanbi, T. A. (2022). Crude oil price, exchange rate, and economic growth nexus: Evidence from Nigeria. International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy, 12(2), 375-382. Retrieved from <u>https://econjournals.com/index.php/ijeep/article/view/13493</u>
- Biscop, S. (2013). The EU, NATO, and the integration of Europe: Rules and rhetoric. Cambridge University Press. <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/eu-nato-and-the-integration-of-europe/90E9ED42A2F6E4377F3BEFBD9BC7874C</u>
- Borrell, J. (2019, December 18). Speech by High Representative/Vice-President Josep Borrell at the UN Security Council Session on Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/ukraine-speech-high-representativevice-president-josep-borrell-un-security-council-session\_en</u>
- Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. (2014, March 27). What are the global implications of the Ukraine crisis? Retrieved from <a href="https://carnegieendowment.org/2014/03/27/what-are-global-implications-of-ukraine-crisis-pub-55112">https://carnegieendowment.org/2014/03/27/what-are-global-implications-of-ukraine-crisis-pub-55112</a>
- Carnegie Europe. (2022, November 29). Paradigm shift: EU-Russia relations after war in Ukraine. <u>https://carnegieeurope.eu/2022/11/29/paradigm-shift-eu-russia-relations-after-war-in-ukraine-pub-88476</u>
- Centre for Economic Policy Research. (2021). The Economic Consequences of the Ukraine War. Retrieved from <u>https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/economic-consequences-ukraine-war-new-ebook</u>
- Chesterman, S. (Ed.). (2007). Secretary or General? The UN Secretary-General in World Politics. Cambridge University Press.
- Cifuentes-Faura, J. (2022). Economic consequences of the Russia-Ukraine war: a brief overview. Espaço Economia, 23, Article 21807. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/espacoeconomia.21807</u>
- Clausen, M.-L., & Albrecht, P. (2022). Security Sector Reform After the Cold War. In Exploring Distance in Security Force Assistance: The Case Of NATO Mission Iraq (pp. 4–7). Danish Institute for International Studies. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep43420.5</u>

Collier, P. (2009). Wars, guns, and votes: Democracy in dangerous places. Harper Collins.

- Council of the European Union. (2022, March 21). A Strategic Compass for Security and Defence - For a European Union that protects its citizens, values and interests and contributes to international peace and security. Retrieved from https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-7371-2022-INIT/en/pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2022, March 25). European Council Conclusions on the Russian Military Aggression Against Ukraine (24 March 2022). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/03/25/european-council-conclusions-on-the-russian-military-aggression-against-ukraine-24-march-2022/">https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/03/25/european-council-conclusions-on-the-russian-military-aggression-against-ukraine-24-march-2022/</a>
- Council of the European Union. (2022). European security strategy: A secure Europe in a better world. Retrieved from <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/documents-publications/publications/european-security-strategy-secure-europe-better-world/</u>
- Council of the European Union. (2023, February 9). European Council conclusions 9 February 2023. Retrieved from <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-</u>releases/2023/02/09/european-council-conclusions-9-february-2023/
- Council of the European Union. (n.d.). Ukraine Eastern Partnership. Retrieved from <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/eastern-partnership/ukraine/</u>
- CSIS (Center for Strategic and International Studies). (2022, November 14). The Baltic conflict: Russia's goal to distract NATO. Retrieved from <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/baltic-conflict-russias-goal-distract-nato</u>
- CVCE (2018). The European Coal and Steel Community (ECSC). Centre Virtuel de la Connaissance sur l'Europe.<u>https://www.cvce.eu/content/publication/2018/1/29/417c0fd9-0982-4f4ebb4e-1324d4e2c200/publishable\_en.pdf</u>
- Darvas, Z., & Martins, C. (2022). The impact of the Ukraine crisis on international trade. Bruegel Working Paper. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bruegel.org/working-paper/impact-ukraine-crisis-international-trade</u>
- Dempsey, J. (2023, March 7). Russia's War on Ukraine Is Changing Germany. Carnegie Europe Strategic Europe. Retrieved from <u>https://carnegieeurope.eu/strategiceurope/89213</u>
- Ejdus, F., & Juncos, A. E. (2017). Reclaiming the local in EU peacebuilding: Effectiveness, ownership, and resistance. European Security, 26(1), 4-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2017.1407176</u>
- European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. (2022, September 23). EBRD Expects Ukraine's Economy to Contract by Nearly a Third in 2022. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ebrd.com/news/2022/ebrd-expects-ukraines-economy-to-contract-by-nearly-a-third-in-2022-.html</u>
- European Central Bank. (2023, May). Financial Stability Review, May 2023. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/financial-stability/fsr/html/ecb.fsr202305~65f8cb74d7.en.html">https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/financial-stability/fsr/html/ecb.fsr202305~65f8cb74d7.en.html</a>

- European Commission. (2022). Europe's Energy Security: In Search of Supply Independence from Russia. Retrieved from <u>https://poland.representation.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-</u>06/Europes\_energy\_security.pdf
- European Commission. (2022). Proposal for a Regulation of The European Parliament and of the Council establishing the European High-Performance Computing Joint Undertaking. Retrieved from <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2022%3A108%3AFIN</u>
- European Commission. (2022, March 22). Statement: Russia/Ukraine: Declaration by the High Representative on behalf of the European Union. Retrieved from <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/statement\_22\_7669">https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/statement\_22\_7669</a>
- European Commission. (2022, June 2). Speech by President von der Leyen at the Plenary Session of the European Parliament on the State of the Union. Retrieved from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/speech\_22\_2785</u>

European Commission. (2022, September 14). State of the Union Address by President von der Leyen. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/ov/speech 22 5493

- European Commission. (2023, May 23). EU-Moldova Energy Dialogue reaffirms close cooperation. Retrieved from <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/news/eu-moldova-energy-dialogue-reaffirms-close-cooperation-2023-05-23\_en</u>
- European Commission. (2023, June 5). Repower EU: Commissioner Simson and Poland discuss green transition. Retrieved from <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/news/repowereu-commissioner-simson-poland-discuss-green-transition-2023-06-05\_en</u>
- European Council on Foreign Relations. (2023). United West, Divided from the Rest? Global Public Opinion One Year into Russia's War on Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://ecfr.eu/publication/united-west-divided-from-the-rest-global-public-opinion-one-year-into-russias-war-on-ukraine/</u>
- Estonian Defence Forces. (2023, February 24). Chief of Defence Speech for Estonia's 105th Independence Day. Retrieved from <u>https://mil.ee/en/news/chief-of-defence-speech-for-estonias-105th-independence-day/</u>
- European Defense Agency. (2022). Investing in European Defense: Today's promises, tomorrow's capabilities? EDA Report, (24). Retrieved from <u>https://eda.europa.eu/docs/default-source/eda-magazine/edm24final.pdf</u>
- European External Action Service. (n.d.). EU Delegation to Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://www.eeas.europa.eu/delegations/ukraine\_en?s=232</u>
- European External Action Service. (2022, September 16). Ukraine: Statement by the High Representative/Vice-President Josep Borrell on the latest atrocities during the conflict. Retrieved from <u>https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/ukraine-statement-high-</u> representativevice-president-josep-borrell-latest-atrocities-during\_en
- European Parliament. (2020). Report on the Security of Gas Supply. Retrieved from: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/A-9-2020-0052\_EN.html

- European Parliament. (2023). EU-Russia relations after the Ukraine crisis. Author: Agnieszka Widuto, Members' Research Service. PE 739.376 March 2023. Retrieved from <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2023/739376/EPRS\_ATA(2023)739376\_EN.pdf</u>
- EU. (2014). Commission Implementing Decision of 16 July 2014 establishing a template for National Energy Efficiency Action Plans pursuant to Directive 2012/27/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council. Official Journal of the European Union, L 2014/150, 112-126. Retrieved from <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014D0512</u>
- European Union Institute for Security Studies. (2017). Securing the Energy Union: Five pillars and five regions (Report No. 32). Retrieved from <u>https://www.iss.europa.eu/content/securing-energy-union-five-pillars-and-five-regions</u>
- Federal Government of Germany. (2019, February 16). Speech by Federal Chancellor Dr. Angela Merkel on 16 February 2019 at the 55th Munich Security Conference. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/service/archive/speech-by-federal-chancellor-dr-angela-merkel-on-16-february-2019-at-the-55th-munich-security-conference-1582318</u>
- Feltman, J. (2023, March 28). War, peace, and the international system after Ukraine. Brookings. Retrieved from <u>https://www.brookings.edu/articles/war-peace-and-the-international-system-after-ukraine/</u>
- Filipchuk, V. (2016). International peacekeeping and the war in Eastern Ukraine: Are there any points of contact? [PDF]. Retrieved from https://icps.com.ua/assets/uploads/images/eu/t mirotvorchist a5 eng.pdf
- Fisher, R. J. (1993). Developing the Field of Interactive Conflict Resolution: Issues in Training, Funding and Institutionalization. Political Psychology, 14(1), 123–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3791396</u>
- Forsström, P. (2019). Russian Military Interests in the Baltic Region in Light of the Crimean Operation and the Development of the Perceptions in the Military Sphere. In S. J. Blank (Ed.), The Russian Military in Contemporary Perspective (pp. 725–754). Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep20098.19</u>
- Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung. (2023, January 19). Geopolitics and Energy Security in Europe: How Do We Move Forward? Retrieved from <u>https://justclimate.fes.de/e/geopolitics-and-energy-security-in-europe</u>
- Gartzke, E., Li, Q., & Boehmer, C. (2001). Investing in the Peace: Economic Interdependence and International Conflict. International Organization, 55(2), 391–438. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/3078636</u>
- Ghaleb, A. (2011). Natural gas as an instrument of Russian state power. Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep11537</u>
- Government of Canada. (n.d.). Ukraine. Retrieved from https://www.international.gc.ca/world-monde/issues\_development-

enjeux\_developpement/response\_conflict-reponse\_conflits/crisiscrises/ukraine.aspx?lang=eng

- Heiman, T. (2022, March 4). Energy security and affordability in the European Union. Heinrich Böll Stiftung Israel. Retrieved from <u>https://il.boell.org/en/2022/03/04/energy-security-and-affordability-european-union</u>
- Heinrich Böll Foundation (2014). The impact of the First World War and its implications for Europe today. Retrieved from <u>https://eu.boell.org/en/2014/06/02/impact-first-world-war-and-its-implications-europe-today</u>
- Hill, C. (2011). International relations and the European Union. Oxford University Press.
- Hill, C., Smith, M., & Vanhoonacker, S. (2017). International Relations and the European Union (New European Union Series) (3rd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- International Crisis Group. (2020). Peace in Ukraine I: A European War. International Crisis Group. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep31263</u>
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). (2022). IMF and Ukraine. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/UKR
- International Monetary Fund. (2022, December 20). How Ukraine is Managing a War Economy. Retrieved from <u>https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2022/12/20/cf-how-ukraine-is-managing-a-war-economy</u>
- International Monetary Fund. (2023, March 31). Ukraine: Request for an Extended Arrangement Under the Extended Fund Facility and Review of the Extended Arrangement Under the Extended Fund Facility. Retrieved from <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/Issues/2023/03/31/Ukraine-Request-for-an-Extended-Arrangement-Under-the-Extended-Fund-Facility-and-Review-of-531687</u>
- Jonson, P. (2023, May). Speech by Minister for Defence Pål Jonson at the Baltic Defence College Annual Conference on Russia 2023. Retrieved from <u>https://www.government.se/speeches/2023/05/speech-by-minister-for-defence-pal-jonson-at-the-baltic-defence-college-annual-conference-on-russia-2023/</u>
- Kennedy, P. (1987). The rise and fall of the great powers: economic change and military conflict from 1500 to 2000. Vintage.
- Keohane, R. O. (1988). International Institutions: Two Approaches. International Studies Quarterly, 32(4), 379–396. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2600589</u>
- Kershaw, I. (2015). To hell and back: Europe, 1914-1949. Penguin UK.
- Kolesnikov, A. (2019). Russia and Cooperative Security in Europe: Times Change, Tactics Remain. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/2019/08/01/russia-and-cooperative-security-in-</u> <u>europe-times-change-tactics-remain-pub-79611</u>
- Ladislaw, S. O., Leed, M., Walton, M. A., Melton, M., Metrick, A., Nakano, J., & Verrastro, F. A. (2014). The Geopolitical Impacts of Global Energy Shifts. In New Energy, New Geopolitics: Background Report 2: Geopolitical and National Security Impacts (pp. 4–48). Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS). http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep23555.5

- Lawrence, P. (2022). Russia's War in Ukraine: State Patriotism or Economic Gain? Journal of Global Faultlines, 9(2), 198–211. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/48713462</u>
- Legowik, E., & Jarosiewicz, A. (2021). European Energy Security: Challenges and Diversification Efforts. Energy Policy, 153, 112233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112233</u>
- Mazower, M. (2009). Europe between the wars: A political history. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Mearsheimer, J. J. (2001). The tragedy of great power politics. W. W. Norton & Company.
- Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan. (2022). Ukraine. Retrieved from https://www.mofa.go.jp/region/europe/ukraine/index.html
- Mogherini, F. (2019, November 27). Speech by Federica Mogherini at the European Parliament Plenary Debate on the Eastern Neighbourhood. Retrieved from <u>https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/speech-federica-mogherini-european-parliament-plenary-debate-eastern-neighbourhood\_zh</u>
- Monaghan, S. (2023, March 1). Solving Europe's defense dilemma: Overcoming challenges in European defense cooperation. Retrieved from <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/solving-europes-defense-dilemma-overcoming-</u> <u>challenges-european-defense-cooperation</u>
- NATO. (2021). NATO 2030: United for a New Era. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nato.int/nato\_static\_fl2014/assets/pdf/2020/12/pdf/201201-Reflection-</u> <u>Group-Final-Report-Uni.pdf</u>
- NATO. (2022, May 9). NATO's Strengthened Presence in the Baltic Sea Region. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/opinions\_212795.htm</u>
- NATO. (2022, September 12). Emerging security challenges. Retrieved from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics\_133127.htm
- NATO. (2023, April 14). Collective defence and Article 5. Retrieved from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics 110496.htm
- North Atlantic Council. (2023, February 24). Statement by the North Atlantic Council marking one year of Russia's war of aggression against Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/official\_texts\_212268.htm</u>
- Nye, J. S. (2004). Soft power: The means to success in world politics. PublicAffairs.
- Office of the President of the Russian Federation. (2022, September). Speech presented at the Eastern Economic Forum Plenary Session, Vladivostok, Russia. Retrieved from <a href="http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/69299">http://en.kremlin.ru/events/president/news/69299</a>
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2022, November 28). OECD Strengthens Support for Ukraine with Four-Year Country Programme. Retrieved from <u>https://www.oecd.org/newsroom/oecd-strengthens-support-for-ukraine-with-four-year-country-programme.htm</u>

- Ozawa, M. (2022). The Russia-Ukraine war and the European energy crisis. In T. Tardy (Ed.), War in Europe: preliminary lessons (pp. 41–52). NATO Defense College. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep41406.9</u>
- Petricic, J. (2022). The new Cold War and the return of history. Intereconomics, 57(4), 219-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10272-022-1011-8</u>
- Pevkur, S. (2023, May 29). Minister of Defence Pevkur: Northern Group Meeting Ukraine's victory will strengthen security for us all. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.kaitseministeerium.ee/en/news/minister-defence-pevkur-northern-group-meeting-ukraines-victory-will-strengthen-security-us-all">https://www.kaitseministeerium.ee/en/news/minister-defence-pevkur-northern-group-meeting-ukraines-victory-will-strengthen-security-us-all</a>
- Picciariello, A., von Kursk, O. B., Muttitt, G., Adow, M., Goldthau, A., Hawila, D., Van de Graaf, T., Abbot, M., Day, T., Hans, F., Logan, A., Mooldijk, S., Tienhaara, K., & Dufour, L. (2022). The War in Ukraine and the Geopolitics of Energy Transitions. In Navigating Energy Transitions: Mapping the road to 1.5°C (pp. 30–56). International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD). http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep47303.7
- RAND Corporation. (2023, March). Consequences of the War in Ukraine: The Economic Fallout. Retrieved from <u>https://www.rand.org/blog/2023/03/consequences-of-the-war-in-ukraine-the-economic-fallout.html</u>
- Remler, P. (2021). The OSCE as Sisyphus: Mediation, Peace Operations, Human Rights. Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI). <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep30942</u>
- Reuters. (2022, February 24). France's Macron calls on Russia to end military actions in Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://www.reuters.com/business/aerospace-</u> defense/frances-macron-calls-russia-end-military-actions-ukraine-2022-02-24/
- Ries, T. (2014). A blessing in disguise: Ukraine and the future of European-Russian relations. Atlantisch Perspectief, 38(7), 4–8. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/48581161</u>
- Roberts, K. (2017). Understanding Putin: The politics of identity and geopolitics in Russian foreign policy discourse. International Journal, 72(1), 28–55. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26414074
- Rutland, P. (2021). Energy and Russian Great Power Post-Crimea. In E. BUCHANAN (Ed.), *Russian Energy Strategy in the APiacific: Implications for Australia* (1st ed., pp. 85–104). ANU Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1prsr27.10</u>
- Rutland, P. (2021). Understanding Putin's Russia and the Struggle over Ukraine. Perspectives on Politics, 19(4), 1295-1299. doi:10.1017/S1537592721002606
- Rynning, S. (2021). NATO: Ambiguity about Escalation in a Multinational Alliance. In S. FRÜHLING & A. O'NEIL (Eds.), Alliances, Nuclear Weapons and Escalation: Managing Deterrence in the 21st Century ed., pp. 67–76). ANU Press. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv25m8dp0.10</u>
- Saxi, H. L. (2010). The impact of geopolitics. In Norwegian and Danish defence policy: A comparative study of the post-Cold War era (pp. 61–74). Norwegian Institute for Defence Studies. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep20322.7</u>
- Slakaityte, V., Surwillo, I., & Berling, T. V. (2022). Introduction. In Energy Security in the Baltic Sea Region: Transition within geopolitical constraints (pp. 9–11). Danish

Institute for International Studies. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep44110.6</u>

- Sletteland, A. (2008). THE GEOPOLITICAL RATIONALE. In The Geopolitics of 'Hearts and Minds': American Public Diplomacy in the War on Terrorism (pp. 59–82). Norwegian Institute of International Affairs (NUPI). <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep08063.10</u>
- Snyder, T. (2018). The road to unfreedom: Russia, Europe, America. Tim Duggan Books.
- Szostek, J. (2017). The Power and Limits of Russia's Strategic Narrative in Ukraine: The Role of Linkage. Perspectives on Politics, 15(2), 379–395. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/26315073</u>
- Thakur, R. (2006). The United Nations, Peace, and Security: From Collective Security to the Responsibility to Protect. (1st Edition ed.) Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511755996</u>
- The Economist. (2022, February 26). The economic consequences of the war in Ukraine. The Economist. Retrieved from <u>https://www.economist.com</u>
- Thomas D. Grant. (2015). Annexation of Crimea. *The American Journal of International Law*, 109(1), 68–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.5305/amerjintelaw.109.1.0068</u>
- Tsygankov, A. P. (2017). Russia's foreign policy: Change and continuity in national identity. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Tunander, O., Baev, P. K., & Einagel, V. I. (Eds.). (1997). Geopolitics in post-wall Europe: Security, territory, and identity. London: Sage.
- UK Government. (2022, February 25). PM Message to the People of Ukraine and Russia. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pm-message-to-the-people-of-ukraine-and-russia-25-february-2022</u>
- United Nations. (2014). Ceasefire Agreement for Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://peacemaker.un.org/UA-ceasefire-2014</u>
- United Nations Security Council Resolution 2202 (2015). Retrieved from https://undocs.org/S/RES/2202(2015)
- United States Department of State. (2022). Ukraine. Retrieved from <u>https://www.state.gov/country/ukraine/</u>
- U.S. Department of State. (2022, February 3). Secretary Blinken: Russia's Strategic Failure and Ukraine's Secure Future. Retrieved from <u>https://ru.usembassy.gov/secretary-blinken-russias-strategic-failure-and-ukraines-secure-future/</u>
- U.S. Department of the Treasury. Ukraine/Russia-related sanctions. Retrieved from <u>https://ofac.treasury.gov/sanctions-programs-and-country-information/ukraine-russia-related-sanctions</u>
- Van Evera, S. (1990). Primed for Peace: Europe after the Cold War. International Security, 15(3), 7–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2538906</u>

- Wallensteen, P., & Bjurner, M. (Eds.). (2014). Regional Organizations and Peacemaking: Challengers to the UN. Routledge.
- Weale, M. (2015). Economic costs of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. National Institute of Economic and Social Research. Retrieved from <u>https://www.niesr.ac.uk/publications/economic-costs-russia-ukraineconflict?type=policy-papers</u>
- Webber, M., Sperling, J., & Smith, M. (2012). NATO's Post-Cold War Trajectory: Decline or Regeneration? Palgrave Macmillan.

World Bank. (2022). Ukraine. Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/ukraine